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Corporate Information
RNAEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman)
Mr. ZHU Liang (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Director

Mr. HAN Jun

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Chi Kin
Mr. LU Xiaoma
Mr. JI Yong

AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman)
Mr. JI Yong
Mr. LU Xiaoma

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Jl Yong (Chairman)
Mr. HAN Jun
Mr. WONG Chi Kin
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman)
Mr. JI Yong
Mr. LU Xiaoma

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman)
Mr. JI Yong
Mr. CUI Yuzhi

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. CUI Yuzhi
Sir KWOK Siu Man KR

COMPANY SECRETARY

Sir KWOK Siu Man KR

LEGAL ADVISORS

Stevenson, Wong & Co.
Ince & Co
AllBright Law Offices
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Corporate Information
RNAEH

REGISTERED OFFICE

The offices of Osiris International Cayman Limited
Suite #4-210, Governors Square

23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue

P.O. Box 32311

Grand Cayman KY|-1209

Cayman Islands

CORPORATE HEADQUARTERS

Room 1106, Block A, Phase |
Innovation Technology Plaza
Tianan Digital City

Futian District, Chegongmiao
Shenzhen

China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 6, I/F, Trust Centre
912 Cheung Sha Wan Road
Lai Chi Kok

Kowloon

Hong Kong

AUDITOR

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
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HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited

| 7/F, Far East Finance Centre
| 6 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

(in alphabetical order)

Bank of China, Shenzhen branch

China Merchants Bank, Guangzhou branch

China Merchants Bank, Hongkong branch

China Merchants Bank, Shenzhen branch

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited, Hongkong branch

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.forgame.com

STOCK CODE ON THE MAIN BOARD OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

484
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Financial Highlights
BBREE

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HREHEER A2 EKER

Year Ended 3| December

BE+-HA=+—HLFE
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
S 2 -F ETF —T-hNF T-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFIT ARKETFT AR®TFT AREFT AREFT
Continuing Operations HEKEER
Revenue WA 114,116 142,136 53,560 98,283 129,440
Gross profit EF 5,773 13,601 12,960 74,445 81,749
(Loss)/profit for the year SR (E18), & F (20,107) 31,581 (38,173) (95932) (4,948)
Non-IFRSs Measures FEBIRR B IS RS R =
— EBITDA® for the year ~ — “FNEBITDA® (2,181) 32,109 (32,150) (99,142) (10,345)
— Adjusted EBITDA® for  — F PR
the year EBITDA® 323 (13,420) (32,330) (74,281) 31,037
Notes: B EE
(1) Financial figures of continuing operations in 202 | exclude relevant figures of the () ZEZ—FRHELLEBNMBEMTBERBRTG

discontinued operation pursuant to the IFRS 5. Details are disclosed in note 12
to the Financial Statements.

(2) EBITDA means earnings before interests, taxes, depreciation and amortisation.

(3) The Group defines adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA excluding share-based
compensation, investment related gains or losses and non-recurring events. For
details of EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA, please refer to the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Non-IFRSs Measures — EBITDA and
Adjusted EBITDA" in this annual report.
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Financial Highlights
MBRRE

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL B A S AR R R
POSITION
As at 3| December
R+=A=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—E- T —F ZE2TF ZFT-NF ZT-)N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TT AREFT ARYFT AREFT AREFIT
Assets BE
Non-current assets EMBNEE 267,267 155,391 122,765 149,788 102,929
Current assets MENEE 456,750 558,004 555,407 663,570 886,71 |
Total assets BEASR 724,017 713,395 678,172 813,358 989,640
Equity and liabilities EankaE
Total equity ST 643,207 636,656 611,968 663,963 847,687
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 2,498 5752 8,001 22614 581
Current liabilities mEAE 78,312 70,987 58,203 126,781 141372
Total liabilities BfEERE 80,810 76,739 66,204 149,395 141,953
Total equity and liabilities 47 M & fE 4258 724,017 713,395 678,172 813,358 989,640
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

OVERVIEW

In 2022, the world economy has been hit hard by a series of severe and
interacting shocks including the repeated COVID-19 pandemic, the war
between Russia and Ukraine and the food and energy crises resulted from
it, soaring inflation, tightening debt and climate emergency. The growth
momentum of global economies, including the United States, the European
Union and other developed economies, has weakened significantly, and China

has also suffered multiple adverse effects.

Due to the resurgence of COVID-19 and complex market environment,
the Group's business faced continuous challenges. The Board and the
management reviewed the internal operation and management strategies
on a regular basis and proactively dealt with past issues while continuously
improving the level of corporate governance. We continued to invest
and develop the online gaming and trading of electronic device and
semiconductor business, as well as improved the management and operation

efficiency.

In 2022, the Group recorded revenue of approximately RMBI [4.] million,
representing a decrease of 19.7% compared to the same period of last
year. Due to the direct impact of payback period of game research and
development investment and inventory impairment of trading of electronic
devices and semiconductors, the Group recorded a loss of approximately

RMB20. 1 million during the year.

8 FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2022 Annual Report
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OUTLOOK

As an ancient Chinese poetry goes, “It's strong and firm though struck and
beaten without rest, careless of the wind from north or south, east or
west.” Looking ahead to 2023, the Group will face various opportunities and
challenges. Although China’s pandemic prevention policy has shifted, there
are still multiple challenges in the economic recovery, coupled with market
instability factors, such as international trade frictions, geopolitical tensions
and fluctuations in raw material prices, which will continue to affect the

Company’s development.

Under such circumstances, the Group will continue to strengthen internal
management, improve efficiency and reduce costs. At the same time, the
Group will continue to increase investment in research and development of
the game business, combine with the introduction and application of new
technologies such as cloud computing, blockchain and Al, etc., to improve
product quality and technical standards. In addition, the Group will also
actively conduct business expansion, and develop long-term and stable
investment channels and actively seek new business directions. The Group
will expand the game business, strengthen cooperation with companies in the
industry, and promote diversified development to achieve more stable and

long-term sustainable development.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to express its sincere gratitude to the Shareholders,
the management team, employees, business partners and customers of the

Group for their continued support and contribution to the Group.

CUI Yuzhi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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Report of Directors
EEEHE

The Directors are pleased to present this annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended

31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in developing and publishing domestic and
overseas webgames and mobile games and trading of electronic devices and

semiconductors in the PRC.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in note 20 to the

Financial Statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2022 are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income on page 107 and page 108 of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 3| December 2022 is
set out in the sections headed “Financial Highlights”, “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 6 and page 7, page 8 and

page 9 and pages 45 to 60 of this annual report, respectively.
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Description of principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing
can be found in the sections headed “Report of Directors — Contractual
Arrangements — D. Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and
the actions taken by the Company to mitigate the risks” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis — Risks and Hurdles” on pages 31 to 36 and page 59
of this annual report, respectively. An analysis of the Group's performance
during the year using financial key performance indicators is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 45 to 60 of
this annual report. An indication of likely future development in the Group's
business is set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 8 and page 9 and page 60
of this report. In addition, the Group’s environmental, social and governance
report for the year ended 3| December 2022 (the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report”) can be found in the appendix to this annual

report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the

year ended 3| December 2022 (202 1: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 35 to the Financial

Statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity on page | I'| and note 37 of this annual report.
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Report of Directors
EEEHE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had distributable reserves of
approximately RMB643.1 million (as at 3| December 2021: RMB636.6
million), none of which had been proposed as final dividend for the year
ended 3| December 2022.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A summary of the condensed consolidated results and financial position for
the last five financial years of the Group is set out on page 6 and page 7 of

this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Save for those disclosed in the section headed “Aspect B8: Community
Investment” in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report, the Group
did not make charitable donations during the year ended 3| December
2022.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property and equipment of the Group during
the year ended 3| December 2022 are set out in note |7 to the Financial

Statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of borrowings of the Group during the year ended 3| December

2022 are set out in note 31 to the Financial Statements.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant unrecorded

contingent liabilities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the amount
of public float as required under the Listing Rules during the year ended 3|
December 2022 and as at the Latest Practicable Date.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the laws
of the Cayman Islands, and there is no restriction against such rights which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the

existing Shareholders.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the

Latest Practicable Date were:

Executive Directors

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman)
Mr. ZHU Liang (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Director

Mr. HAN Jun (re-designated as Non-executive Director with effect from
24 May 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Dong (retired with effect from 24 May 2022)
Mr. WONG Chi Kin

Mr. LU Xiaoma

Mr. Jl Yong

Report of Directors
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Report of Directors
EEEHE

Pursuant to article 104(1) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting
of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less
than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years.
Accordingly, Mr. ZHU Liang and Mr. LU Xiaoma shall retire from office
by rotation at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and being eligible,
have offered themselves for re-election as Directors at the Annual General

Meeting.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the

Group are set out on pages 93 to 99 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company, and each of the Independent Non-executive Directors and the

Non-executive Director has signed an appointment letter with the Company.

The appointment of the Directors, including the Executive Directors, the
Non-executive Director and the Independent Non-executive Directors,
is effective from the respective appointment date for an initial term of
three years and is renewable for a further term of three years. All of these
appointments are subject to the provisions of retirement and rotation of

Directors under the Articles.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting has a service contract or appointment letter with
the Company, which is not determinable within one year without payment of

compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE FROM THE
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors (namely Mr. WONG Chi Kin, Mr. LU Xiaoma and Mr. JI Yong)
a confirmation in writing in respect of their respective independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has reviewed the
independence of each of these Directors and considers all the Independent

Non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had any interests and short positions at the relevant time being in
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), or (b) pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or (c) to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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Report of Directors
EEEHE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the following are the persons/entities, other than

FTERRAROREBROOESZ R XA

RIB-—F+-A=+—B UTAL EBER

the Directors or chief executives of the Company at the relevant time, AIPERER R E B E BITIRA BRIN PR K A8
who had interests or short positions in the Shares and underlying Shares as AR EEERENIBIEES RBAEEIIEXVEE
recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the Company BOFRBARNAIFENERECMOERIORR
pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:
Number and  Approximate percentage of
Name Capacity/Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L 54, EmtE R E RE5 BOKRERD L
Managecorp Limited(" Trustee 29,437,335 20.06%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
XFEA 29,437,335/%
Bk (FR)
Foga Group!” Beneficial Owner 21,673,338 14.77%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BEmBEEA 21,673,338
Bk (FR)
WANG Dongfeng Founder of the Discretionary 21,673,338 14.77%
Trust and Interest of Ordinary Shares
Controlled Corporationt” (long position)
SEBRE EREFRAMARI I EE RO 21,673,338%
Bk (FR)
Beneficial Owner® 1,500,800 1.02%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BEHBEAA® 1,500,800%
Bk (FR)
16 FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2022 Annual Report



Report of Directors
EEEHRE

Number and  Approximate percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L B0 ERUE 58 E RE5 BMAKRET D
Foga Holdings" Beneficial Owner 7,763,997 5.29%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BESEAA 7,7639978%
ik (FR)
LIAO Dong!" Founder of the Discretionary Trust and 7,763,997 5.29%
Interest of Controlled Corporation Ordinary Shares

(long position)

BRO EREFEMARZ LB R 7,7639970%
Tk (FR)

Foga Internet Development® Beneficial Owner 7,785,700 531%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BESEAA 7,785,7008%
i (FR)

YANG Tao Interest of Controlled Corporation® 7,785,700 531%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
15 R EE R 7,785,7008%
Bk (FR)

Beneficial Owner® 1,340,000 091%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BESEAAG 1,340,0008%
TR (FR)

KongZhong Corporation® Beneficial Owner 10,202,168 6.95%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
ZEFRE BESEAA 10,202, 168H%
B (FR)

EWERERAT FEHs02 17



Report of Directors

EEEHE

Number and

Approximate percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L B ERME R 8 E RE5 BMARER DL
Linkedsee Limited® Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
R AEES 10,202, 1680%
Bk (FR)
Linkedsee Group Limited® Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
A S 10,202, 1680%
Tk (FR)
WANG Leilei® Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
EFEEO R AEES 10,202, 1680%
Bk (FR)
Shanghai Changhui Internet Technology  Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
Co., Limited*® Ordinary Shares
(long position)
LERETREMRBERARO A EES 10,202, 168A%
B (FR)
Beijing Wuxing Rongcheng Technology Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
Co., Limited.*® Ordinary Shares
(long position)
ERAZRBIRBRETARC R AEES 10,202, 168H%
Tk (FR)
Beijing Hexie Xinrong Investment Center Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
(Limited Partnership)*® Ordinary Shares
(long position)
ERMBEMRERERO(BRER)®  REEE#ER 10,202, 1 68H%
B (FR)
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Number and  Approximate percentage of

Name Capacity/Nature of interest class of Shares shareholding
=L B0 ERUE IR0 8B R IEH! BMAKRET D
Hexie Tianming Investment Management  Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
(Beijing) Co., Ltd.*® Ordinary Shares
(long position)
MEXAREERARBRARY REAEES 10,202, 1 68H%
B (FR)
Hexie Chengzhang Phase I (YIWU) Interest of Controlled Corporation 10,202,168 6.95%
Investment Center (Limited Ordinary Shares
Partnership)*® (long position)
KR -—HES)REHL R AEES 10,202, 168H%
(BREH)O Tk (FR)
China Create Capital Limited Beneficial Owner 9,584,000 6.53%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
FRIBIBEANBRAT] BESEAA 9,584,0008%
ik (FR)
BASEWAY CO LTD® Beneficial Owner 9,614,760 6.55%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BESEAA 9,614,7600%
Tk (FR)
GU Wei® Interest of Controlled Corporation 9,614,760 6.55%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
e X RE S 9,614,7600%
B (FR)
Beneficial Owner 6,073,000 4.14%
Ordinary Shares
(long position)
BESEAA 6,073,0008%
i (FR)
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Foga Group is wholly owned by Managecorp Limited as the trustee of Wang
Trust. Wang Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. WANG Dongfeng, who
is its settlor and protector, with Managecorp Limited as trustee on |5 March
2013. The beneficiary objects of Wang Trust include Mr. WANG Dongfeng
and certain of his family members. Mr. WANG Dongfeng and Managecorp
Limited are taken to be interested in 21,673,338 Shares held by Foga Group. In
addition, Foga Holdings is wholly owned by Managecorp Limited as the trustee
of Hao Dong Trust. Hao Dong Trust is a discretionary trust set up by Mr. LIAO
Dong, who is its settlor and protector, with Managecorp Limited as trustee on
I5 March 2013. The beneficiary object of Hao Dong Trust is Mr. LIAO Dong
himself. Mr. LIAO Dong and Managecorp Limited are taken to be interested in
7,763,997 Shares held by Foga Holdings.

Mr. WANG Dongfeng was granted 500,000 RSUs under the Restricted Share
Unit Scheme in 2016, all of which vested during the period from | December
2016 to | June 2018. Mr. WANG Dongfeng bought an aggregate of 850,800
Shares during the period from 26 June 2017 to I3 July 2017. He was further
granted 300,000 RSUs under the Restricted Share Unit Scheme in 2018, 50,000
of which vested on | December 2018 and 250,000 of which were cancelled
on 30 June 2019. The Company further granted 250,000 RSUs to Mr. WANG
Dongfeng under the Restricted Share Unit Scheme in 2019, 50,000 of which
vested on | July 2019, 50,000 vested on | January 2020, and 150,000 were
cancelled.

Foga Internet Development is wholly owned by Mr. YANG Tao. Mr. YANG
Tao is taken to be interested in the 7,785,700 Shares held by Foga Internet
Development Ltd.

Mr. YANG Tao was granted 1,340,000 RSUs under the Restricted Share Unit

Scheme in 2016, all of which vested during the period from | December 2016
to | June 2018.
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(5) KongZhong Corporation is interested in 10,202,168 Shares, representing
approximately 6.95% of the issued share capital of the Company. KongZhong
Corporation is 100% owned by Linkedsee Limited, which in turn is 73.13%
owned by Linkedsee Group Limited. Shanghai Changhui Internet Technology Co.,
Limited.* (/8 FEEBABRER AR QT holds 57.32% of equity interest of
Linkedsee Group Limited. Beijing Wuxing Rongcheng Technology Co., Limited.*
GERAEZBMHAEHEBREML QA holds 100% equity interest of Shanghai
Changhui Internet Technology Co., Limited.* (/8 FE EEAER AR A A)).
Beijing Wuxing Rongcheng Technology Co., Ltd.* At R A EFBEHEERE
ERR]) is 51.11% owned by Mr. WANG Leilei and 40.89% owned by Hexie
Chengzhang Phase Il (YIWU) Investment Center (Limited Partnership)* (F&&
REZHEE)REPL(BREE)). Hexie Chengzhang Phase I (YIWU)
Investment Center (Limited Partnership)* (Fz&A & Z8i(ZEE)REH L
(BBREF)) is 3% held by Beijing Hexie Xinrong Investment Center (Limited
Partnership)* (JL RFIFETRELILEF O (BRE%)). Beijing Hexie Xinrong
Investment Center (Limited Partnership)* (3L RFIFERERIZRE R L(BRE %))
is 0.1% owned by Hexie Tianming Investment Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd.*

(FMERBAREERBALR)BERAR]).

(6) BASEWAY CO LTD is wholly owned by Ms. GU Wei. Ms. GU Wei is taken to
be interested in the 9,614,760 Shares held by BASEWAY CO LTD.

* The English name(s) has/have been translated from its/their respective Chinese
name(s) and is/are for identification purpose only.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company was
not aware of any other person/entity (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company at the relevant time) who/which had an interest
or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO.

(6)
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ZEHRFEH 10,202, 168D EVER - HERARAER
BT 496.95% © Z=H HLinkedsee Limited# & 100%
# %+ Linkedsee LimitedR/H Linkedsee Group Limited
WAH73.13%m - EBEEEBARETERARZAE
Linkedsee Group Limited 57.32%f%#  Jb = A 2 gh#
MEBRETARIFE LEEETHARZER AR
100%MHE - L R A ERMBREBRETARHEES
EERFBRR-BEB)RERL(BERER) D BIHE
B51.11%K%40.89% s - AR - ES)HZEF L
(BERAE) It RFEMERETL(BEREB)FE3%
R o L RFEMRERZER L (EREE) B ME AP
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BASEWAY CO LTDHBMAZ T2 EHE - BMAZ T
B M BASEWAY CO LTD# B HI9,614,7608% A% 15 7
B o
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 3| December 2022 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date was the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding
company or any subsidiary of the Company's holding company, a party to any
arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means
of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children
under the age of |18 was granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt
securities of the Company or any other body corporate or had exercised

any such right.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Save for their respective interests in the Group (including the PRC
Operational Entities), none of the Directors was interested in any business
which competes or is likely to compete with the businesses of the Group for

the year ended 3| December 2022.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis
— Material Investment, Acquisition and Disposal” in this annual report, during
the year ended 3| December 2022, the Group did not perform any material

acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint ventures.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements — F.
Chapter |4A Implications” in this annual report, during the year ended
31 December 2022, no related party transactions disclosed in note 42 to
the Financial Statements constituted a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to Rules 14A.49
and 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Investment activities in the PRC by foreign investors and foreign-owned
enterprises shall comply with the Foreign Investment Law, the Regulation
on Implementing the Foreign Investment Law and the Special Administrative
Measures (Negative List) for the Access of Foreign Investment (the
“Negative List"). According to the Negative List, the webgame and mobile
game businesses currently operated by the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities, namely Feiyin, Weidong and Jieyou, involve in value-added
telecommunications services (except for e-commerce) and internet cultural
business (except for music), and restricted or prohibited foreign investors to

invest in.

Furthermore, according to the Regulations for the Administration of
Foreign-Invested Telecommunications Enterprises, which were issued on
|l December 2001 by the State Council and amended on |0 September
2008, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more than 50% of the
equity interests of a company providing value-added telecommunications
services, including internet content provision services. Internet content
provision services are classified as value-added telecommunications
businesses, and a commercial operator of such services must obtain an
ICP Licence from the appropriate telecommunications authorities in order
to carry on any commercial internet content provision operations in the
PRC. A foreign investor who invests in a value-added telecommunications
business in the PRC must possess prior experience in operating value-
added telecommunications businesses and a proven track record of business

operations overseas (the “Qualification Requirement”).
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As advised by the Company’'s PRC legal advisers, as at 3| December 2022,
no applicable PRC laws, regulations or rules had provided clear guidance or
interpretation on the Qualification Requirement, and there was no update to

the Qualification Requirement.

A. Feidong Contractual Arrangements

In order for the Company to be able to carry on its businesses in the
PRC, including webgame and mobile game businesses, the Group has
in place the Feidong Contractual Arrangements between Feidong, on
one hand, the Feidong PRC Operational Entities and their respective
shareholders on the other hand, which enable the Company to
exercise control over the Feidong PRC Operational Entities, and to
consolidate the financial results of Feidong PRC Operational Entities in
the results of the Company under IFRSs as if they were wholly-owned

subsidiaries of the Company.
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The table below sets out a simplified structure of the Feidong TRHEIIZEEN & KL HEH LA

Contractual Arrangements:

Company
AR T
100%
v
offchore Foga Tech
FHN
100%
or;ihore Contractual
EA
v arrangements
. Crokrt Feidong registered
Feidong
3£ — —— ——— —— — P jhareh(zlders
FBHELHER
1
| Contractual 100%
I arrangements
AN ]
! SRS Feidong PRC
L - - - - - - — - — - — - > Operational Entities
FPTRLEER
Summary of the major terms of the structured contracts under the FEEHNLZH T HIBMEENEERIEUE
Feidong Contractual Arrangements
The following sets out a summary of the major terms of the structured BE_Z -+ -A=+—HIEFEAMTH
contracts under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements which were in FHENRFE TERBESANETZRRBESHTIW
place during the year ended 3| December 2022: T 8

Exclusive options agreements dated June and July 2012, which
were amended and restated on |2 September 2013, were
entered into between each of the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities, their respective shareholders, and Feidong, under which
Feidong was granted an exclusive irrevocable option to purchase
from the respective shareholders some or all of their equity
interests in the Feidong PRC Operational Entities at any time, at a

nominal amount subject to applicable PRC laws.

BFPPRELLERBIEZENRRN_-F
——FRNAREAEEPHITLIR —F—=
FAAT-—RETRERNBERBERER
& BUSFBERTARENEREERE
AERAEESRBEESRRNIES T HL
SERNE D A MBAELS - ERETE
PR BER ©
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Exclusive business cooperation agreements dated 2| June 2012,
which were amended and restated on |2 September 2013, were
entered into between each of the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities and Feidong, under which each of the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities agreed to engage Feidong as its exclusive
provider of business support, technical and consulting services,
including network support, business consultations, intellectual
property development, equipment leasing, marketing consultancy,
system integration, product research and development and
system maintenance, in exchange for a monthly service fee. The
monthly fee is, subject to Feidong’s adjustment, equal to 100%
of the net income of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities
and may also include accumulated earnings of the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities from previous financial years. Pursuant to
the exclusive business cooperation agreements, Feidong also has
the exclusive and proprietary rights to all intellectual properties

developed by the Feidong PRC Operational Entities.

Share pledge agreements dated July 2012, which were amended
and restated on |12 September 2013, were entered into between
each of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities, its respective
shareholders, and Feidong, under which the shareholders of the
Feidong PRC Operational Entities pledged all of their respective
equity interests in the Feidong PRC Operational Entities to
Feidong as collateral security for all of their payments due to
Feidong and to secure performance of their obligations under the

above-mentioned exclusive business cooperation agreements.

Irrevocable powers of attorney were executed in June and July
2012, which were amended and restated on |2 September
2013, executed by each of the shareholders of the Feidong PRC
Operational Entities to appoint Feidong as the exclusive agent
and attorney to act on their behalf on all matters concerning
the Feidong PRC Operational Entities and to exercise all of their
rights as registered shareholders of the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities.
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For details of the Contractual Arrangements, please refer to the

section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus.

During the year ended 3| December 2022, (i) there were no new
contractual arrangements entered into, renewed or reproduced
between the Group and the Feidong PRC Operational Entities,
(ii) there were no material changes in the Feidong Contractual
Arrangements or the circumstances under which they were adopted,
and (iii) none of the structured contracts under the Feidong
Contractual Arrangement mentioned above has been unwound as none
of the restrictions that led to the adoption of structured contracts

under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements has been removed.

Particulars of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities as at 31
December 2022:
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HE_Z-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE  ()r&
BEFHTRECEHEEBMET Y - BHRENF]
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Z&E

Name of the
Feidong PRC Type of legal entity/
Operational place of establishment
Entities and operation Registered owners Business activities
EBTEEE FERBRER
EREEE BB A it B BREAA EBED
Feiyin Limited liability 41.10% by Mr. Huang Development of webgames and mobile games
company/the PRC  24.70% by Mr. Liao
23.75% by Mr. Wang
9.50% by Mr. Zhuang
0.95% by Mr. Yang
EE BREFERR/TE FELEFE4.10% HEFEERBHER

B 5 R 524.70%
R ERE23.75%
HEAEFFH.50%
B R ERH095%
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Name of the
Feidong PRC

Operational

Type of legal entity/

place of establishment

Entities and operation Registered owners Business activities
FHHEEE FEERER S
BEEEE FRAL R AR B BEEAA EBED
Weidong Limited liability 41.10% by Mr. Huang Development and operation of webgames and mobile games
company/the PRC  24.70% by Mr. Liao

23.75% by Mr. Wang

9.50% by Mr. Zhuang

0.95% by Mr. Yang
L) EREEAR/HE BEERE4.10% FAEREERERBBEE

B ERH24.70%

EREFRRF23.75%

AT ERH9.50%

1B ERH095%
Jieyou Limited liability 48.61% by Mr. Zhuang Development and operation of webgames and mobile games

company/the PRC  20.94% by Mr. Wang

|7.13% by Mr. Liao

12.37% by Mr. Huang

0.95% by Mr. Yang
b 33 EREEAR/HE HEEHF4861% HAERKERERBBEE

T IERH20.94%

BRERAI7.13%

BRREFRA1237%

BRERH095%
The Feidong PRC Operational Entities are significant to the Group FEHPELEERHAEEMEEEE @ 1LV A
as they hold certain licences and permits that are essential to the REFBEHASEETRKEEAEREES
operations of the webgame and mobile game businesses in the PRC BEERBHAE G TERRBNRFFAIE - AICPFFA]
of the Group, such as the ICP Licence, the Network Cultural Business B RS ETF O B AREFAEE o
Permit, in the PRC. In addition, most of the intellectual property rights 5 FEBTFREERENGE R LARBEA BN
relating to such businesses, including software copyrights, trademarks, REDHBERE - BREDERE - 5% - TRk
patents and domain names, are held by the Feidong PRC Operational B4 e
Entities.
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The Feidong PRC Operational Entities have undertaken to the
Company that, for so long as the Shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange, the Feidong PRC Operational Entities will provide the
Group’s management and the auditors of the Company with full access
to its relevant records for the purpose of procedures to be carried
out by the auditors of the Company on the transactions contemplated

under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements.

Requirements related to the Contractual Arrangements (other than

relevant foreign ownership restrictions)

As advised by the Company’'s PRC legal advisers, requirements
related to the Contractual Arrangements (other than relevant foreign

ownership restrictions) include:

Pursuant to Article 52 of the PRC Contract Law, a contract
is void under any of the following five circumstances: (i) the
contract is concluded through the use of fraud or coercion by
one party and thereby damages the interest of the state, (ii)
malicious collusion is conducted to damage the interest of the
state, a collective unit or a third party, (iii) the contract damages
the public interest, (iv) an illegitimate purpose is concealed
under the guise of legitimate acts or (v) the contract violates the
mandatory provisions of the laws or administrative regulations.
As advised by the Company’s PRC legal advisers, the relevant
terms of the Contractual Arrangements do not fall within any of
the aforementioned five circumstances, and in particular, would
not be deemed as “concealing an illegitimate purpose under the
guise of legitimate acts” under Article 52 of the PRC Contract
Law, and do not violate the provisions of the PRC Contract Law
or the General Principles of the PRC Civil Law. However, there
are substantial uncertainties regarding the interpretation and
application of PRC laws and future PRC laws and regulations, and
there can be no assurance that any PRC government agency will
not take a view that is contrary to or otherwise different from

the above.
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According to the Contractual Arrangements, when a dispute
arises, any party to the agreements may submit such dispute
to the China International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission for settlement pursuant to the effective arbitration
rules at that time, and the arbitration award shall be final
and binding on the parties. Arbitration tribunal may decide
compensation for the equity interests and property ownership
of the on-shore subsidiaries, decide enforceable remedy or
demand liquidation of relevant business or enforceable asset
transfer. Any party is entitled to request the competent court
to execute the arbitration award when it comes into effect. The
courts in Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands also have the right
to grant or execute awards of arbitration tribunal and make
decision or execute temporary remedy on the equity interests
and property ownership of the on-shore subsidiaries. However,
pursuant to the laws of China, in the settlement of dispute, the
arbitration tribunals shall not be entitled to grant an injunctive
order to protect the property ownership or equity interests of
the on-shore subsidiaries, and shall not issue a temporary or final
liquidation order directly. Moreover, the interim remedies or
orders granted by the off-shore courts, including Hong Kong and
the Cayman Islands, may not be recognised or enforced by the
courts in China. Therefore, such terms in the above agreements

may not be enforceable under the laws of China.

Revenue and assets subject to the structured contracts under the

Contractual Arrangements

The revenue and the total asset value of the Feidong PRC Operational

Entities subject to the Feidong Contractual Arrangements amounted

to approximately RMBI17.6 million for the year ended 3| December

2022 and approximately RMB230.7 million as at 31 December 2022,

respectively.
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D.

Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements and the actions

taken by the Company to mitigate the risks

Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements

BRREERR
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

KRR BRIz BEERRITE

If the PRC government finds that the underlying agreements
of the Contractual Arrangements that establish the structure
for operating the business of the Company in the PRC do not
comply with PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations
or their interpretations change in the future, the Group could
be subject to severe penalties or be forced to relinquish the

interests in those operations.

HARBEBRFERRTRERIARDEBRERBLANR
HETZABWE TR EDERER - JHZFERK
HBEARLRES  AAKEAESEXE AT KA
R A B RS T ey

Pursuant to the relevant exclusive business cooperation
agreements under the Contractual Arrangements, at any
time after the date of such agreements, in the event of any
promulgation or change of any law, regulation or rule of
China or any interpretation or applicable change of such
laws, regulations or rules, the following agreements shall be
applicable: If the economic interests of any party under the
agreements suffer a significant adverse effect directly or
indirectly due to the above change of laws, regulations or
rules, the agreements should continue to operate pursuant
to the original terms. Each of the parties shall obtain a waiver
for complying with such change or rule via all legal channels.
If any adverse effect on the economic interests of any party
may not be eliminated according to the relevant agreement,
upon the receipt by the other parties of such notice from the
affected party, all the parties shall promptly discuss and make
all necessary modification to the agreements to preserve
the economic interests of the affected party under the
agreement.

REBENLZHRT 2AHEBREBEIERHE - EXHHER
FZREZ  MREEMRE - BMEAPBDER - JERHK
MEMNBMKRE - HANHZFTER BRI ENE
BISGERMNNE - ERATHE - MRBR LERE
RARENEE - EM—HEBEHBER THEENRE
BERXEENZIBETNNTE  ERGEEEEIZRR
BIRFKHIT - ST EFNBAMARENRERSHETZE
BHRERF R o AREHEM —J7 BN R E R AT
FETHRRREABZTHORENRR X E—TBEA
Hib &% - FTRERERLHERBER L — IV E
MEER - MR R E — T EBRBIHHEE THKEN A

EWERERAT FEHE52002 31



Report of Directors
EEEHE

32

Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements

BRREERR

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AR TRz BEERRITE

The Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in
providing operational control as direct ownership and the PRC
Operational Entities or their shareholders may fail to perform

their obligations under the Contractual Arrangements.

BRI EES T I N ERER AR - Bh
BELEBRERRABERTENANOLR T ZEE -

The Company may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets
held by the PRC Operational Entities that are important
to the operation of the business of the Group if the PRC
Operational Entities declare bankruptcy or become subject to

dissolution or liquidation proceedings.

fii o B S B R S AN A SR AL SGE TR R - BIARR] A
REXEEARFAHAREEKECBEAZTRES
BEREEZRET -
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According to the relevant powers of attorney, share pledge
agreements and exclusive business cooperation agreements
under the Contractual Arrangements, the arbitration
tribunal may decide (i) compensation for the equity interests
or property ownership of the PRC Operational Entities
or their shareholders, or (ii) enforceable remedy or to
demand bankruptcy of the PRC Operational Entities or their
shareholders for relevant business or enforceable asset
transfer. Any party is entitled to request a competent court

to execute the arbitration award when it comes into effect.

REBANLZHRT 2ABRERTE  REERHELE
REBEEBHRORE - FRETURO)PHELLEERK

HEROB RS E RS ERE - () EExE
BRBRHIENEEBERERFIRERGTHELEER
SE BRI  (PEEURAERIR - Tﬂﬁjfﬁi’iﬁﬁéfﬂﬁﬁ
R AP R R ATIPEEUR

Pursuant to the relevant exclusive option agreements under
the Contractual Arrangements, in the event of a mandatory
liquidation required by the laws of the PRC, the relevant
Feidong PRC Operational Entities shall sell all of their assets
and any residual interest through a non-reciprocal transfer to
the extent permitted by the laws of the PRC to Feidong or
another qualifying entity designated by Feidong, at the lowest
selling price permitted by applicable laws of the PRC.
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Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company

R BRIz BEERRITE

The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny
by the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be
imposed. A finding that the Group owes additional taxes
could substantially reduce the consolidated net income of the

Group and the value of the investment of the Shareholders.

BHRZHRFLTENBREFARTE - Bt eELR
SMRTE  HORAKEHRB BRI A LG ERAKE RS
RERIEA R RIS E BEARERD

Shareholders of the PRC Operational Entities may potentially
have a conflict of interest with the Group, and such
shareholders may breach their contracts with the Group, or
cause such contracts to be amended in a manner contrary to

the interests of the Group.

TEEEEBCRRAGECRERARETRZELS

MERBRNGEREAREE ZMNAL  SBEZRE
AEBASHEETAETAEEH -

As advised by the Company's PRC legal advisers, they
took the view that the Contractual Arrangements will not
be challenged by the PRC tax authorities unless the PRC
tax authorities determine that such transactions are not
conducted on an arm'’s length basis, provided that Feidong and
the Feidong PRC Operational Entities implement the Feidong
Contractual Arrangements in accordance with the terms of

the structured contracts.

BINARBPBERERMAES  REBRAOREHT
ERITEBBHEERE - HFSRIFBTREEERA
REBEBESONERERIFEDAORY - BIFREBRK

BEABE A BRI SA IR A FIRAET -

The shareholders of the PRC Operational Entities have
undertaken to Feidong that during the period when the
Contractual Arrangements remain effective, (i) unless
otherwise agreed by Feidong in writing, the relevant
shareholder would not, directly or indirectly (either on his
own account or through any natural person or legal entity)
participate, be interested in, engage in, acquire or hold (in
each case whether as a shareholder, partner, agent, employee
or otherwise) any business which is or may potentially be
in competition with the businesses of the PRC Operational
Entities or any of its affiliates and (ii) any of his actions or
omissions would not lead to any conflict of interest between
him and Feidong (including but not limited to its shareholders).
Furthermore, in the event of the occurrence of a conflict of
interest where Feidong has the sole absolute discretion to
determine whether such conflict arises, he agrees to take any
appropriate actions as instructed by Feidong.
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Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements

BRREERR

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

AR TRz BEERRITE

Vi.

vii.

The Group depends on the PRC Operational Entities to
provide certain services that are critical to its business. The
breach or termination of any of these service agreements
or any failure of or significant quality deterioration in these
services could have a material adverse effect on the business,

financial condition and results of operations of the Group.

AEBFRETRSEERRERETHEERBME BREE

R - EAZERBHHBERIR LI ARERBITERR B

BRBRREFEREERLSHAREZXH - KRR
REERBETBERNTNEE -

The Group conducts its business operation in the PRC
through the PRC Operational Entities by way of the
Contractual Arrangements, but certain of the terms of the
Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under the
PRC laws.

AEBASHNRHENEBTELLEBNPEETHE
BRE  BENTHETHRIRBHEAEAEELE
B e

FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2022 Annual Report

To ensure sound and effective operation of the Group
after the adoption of the Contractual Arrangements, during
the period when the Contractual Arrangements remain
effective, the relevant business units and operation divisions
of the Group will report regularly, no less frequent than on
a monthly basis, to the senior management of the Company
on the compliance and performance conditions under the
Contractual Arrangements and other related matters. In
addition, the PRC Operational Entities are not permitted
to terminate the relevant exclusive business cooperation
agreements under the Contractual Arrangements unless
Feidong commits gross negligence or a fraudulent act against
them.
RERTEENEREBAENLHEREERTBEY RE
BENR T ERIM AR EREEEELREED R
BRLHRGEZ BT RETBERANREMEEEEELE
R—REHARRAGREEERE - 1o - FEKEE
BIBSRIERNRHZBRERE i - RIEFSHHR
ERRBREEELBRFFETR

As advised by the Company's PRC legal advisers, save as
disclosed in the paragraph headed “E. Deviation from the
guidance letter in respect of the Contractual Arrangements”
below, the Contractual Arrangements were narrowly tailored
to minimise the potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and
regulations.
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Risk associated with the Contractual Arrangements
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Mitigation actions taken by the Company
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viii.

If Feidong (or its designee within the Group) exercises the
option to acquire equity ownership of the PRC Operational
Entities, the ownership transfer may subject the Group to

substantial costs.

fHIEE) (RERAEBE A IEE A D) ITERBBREEE S
BREBRE  AIREERAESARBELEAK
K o

Assets (including equity interests) registered under
shareholders of the PRC Operational Entities may be subject
to seizure, confiscation, freezing, auction or sale by the
People's Court of the PRC due to litigation, arbitration or

other legal proceedings against such shareholders.

%%%¢I%%am2k%%TWEH§E(Tﬂ%@ﬁ
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According to the relevant exclusive option agreements under
the Contractual Arrangements, unless valuation is required
under the laws of China before exercising such option, the
purchase price of the equity interests shall be the nominal
price, and if the relevant governmental authorities specify a
particular price as the purchase price of equity interests, the
purchaser shall return the surplus or make up the difference
to the vendor, provided that the vendor and purchaser need
to assume such tax incurred by such party or levied on such

party, respectively.

REBEANLZHRT 2 ABBRBER DS - BRIFTEED
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EREERENREESBBBAIBRK -

Regular review to check whether such conditions exist,
discover such conditions and obtain specific details in a timely
manner. Feidong and the Feidong PRC Operation Entities
and its shareholders have signed Share Pledge Agreements
pursuant to which Feidong shall claim that the outstanding
amount of money from the Feidong PRC Operational Entities
under the contractual arrangement shall be paid in priority
from the proceeds of auction and sale of shares if the shares
of the Feidong PRC Operational Entities are auctioned.
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For details of the risks associated with the Feidong Contractual
Arrangements, please refer to the section headed “Risk Factors — Risks

relating to our Feidong Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus.

Deviation from the Guidance Letter in respect of the Contractual

Arrangements

Paragraph 16(a) (i) of the Guidance Letter GL77—14 published by the
Stock Exchange in May 2014 (as updated in August 2015 and April
2018) in relation to listed issuers using contractual arrangements for
their businesses (the “Guidance Letter”) requires that structured
contracts shall be narrowly tailored to achieve the issuer’s business
purpose and minimise the potential for conflict with relevant PRC laws
and regulations. As advised by the PRC legal advisers, according to
the FITE Regulations, foreign investors are not allowed to hold more
than 50% of the equity interests of a company providing value-added
telecommunications services (except for e-commerce). Furthermore,
to the best knowledge of the Company and the PRC legal advisers,
if a Sino-Foreign equity joint-venture enterprise applies for an ICP
licence, it will be subject to more stringent requirements or additional
requirements imposed by the MIIT or its local counterparts (the
“Relevant Authority”) as compared to domestic enterprises in the
PRC. As compared to domestic enterprises in the PRC, the Relevant
Authority will require more information, documents and other
proof from an applicant which is a Sino-Foreign equity enterprise
in various aspects, such as the identity and nationality of its ultimate
individual shareholders, the prior experience of the foreign investor(s)
in operating value-added telecommunications businesses and a
proven track record of its overseas business operations (collectively,
the “Additional Information”). No criteria, standard, guidance or
interpretation documents have been published by the Relevant
Authority on how the Additional Information will be assessed, whether
in qualitative or quantitative aspect, and on the extent or form of

requirements of the Additional Information.
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Chapter |4A implications

Feidong Contractual Arrangements

Waiver from the Stock Exchange and Annual Review

For the purposes of Chapter |4A of the Listing Rules, certain
transactions under the Feidong PRC Contractual Agreements
constitute continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules.
The Stock Exchange has granted a specific waiver to the Company
from strict compliance with the connected transactions requirements
under Chapter [4A of the Listing Rules in respect of the Feidong
Contractual Arrangements. For details, please refer to the section

headed "Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

The Directors are of the opinion that the transactions under the
Feidong Contractual Arrangements were conducted in the ordinary

course of business of the Group.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the Independent
Non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing connected
transactions under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements and
confirmed that these continuing connected transactions have been

entered into:

(i)  inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group than
terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent third

parties; and

(iiiy in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

Company and its shareholders as a whole.
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The Independent Non-executive Directors have also confirmed that (i)
the transactions carried out during the year ended 3| December 2022
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions
of the Feidong Contractual Arrangements, (ii) no dividends or other
distributions have been made by the Feidong PRC Operational
Entities to the holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group, and (iii) there were
no new contracts entered into, renewed or reproduced between the
Group and the Feidong PRC Operational Entities during the year ended
31 December 2022. Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the
Board has engaged the auditors of the Company to perform certain
agreed-upon procedures in accordance with Hong Kong Standard
on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements
Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transaction under the Hong Kong Listing Rules”
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants on
the aforesaid continuing connected transactions. Based on the work
performed, the auditors of the Company have provided a letter to the

Board confirming that:

I nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of
the Company to believe that the disclosed continuing connected

transactions have not been approved by the Board;

2. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by
the Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes the
auditors of the Company to believe that the transactions were
not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing policies

of the Group;
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3. nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of
the Company to believe that the transactions were not entered
into, in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements under the Feidong Contractual Arrangements

governing such transactions; and

4. nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditors of
the Company to believe that dividends or other distributions
have been made by the Feidong PRC Operational Entities to
the holders of its equity interests which are not otherwise

subsequently assigned/transferred to the Group.

After the Listing Date and up to the Latest Practicable Date, among
the Founders, (i) Mr. Huang retired as Director on 27 May 2014 and
resigned from all positions held within the Group with effect from |
April 2015, but remains as a 41.10% registered shareholder of Feiyin
and Weidong and a 12.37% registered shareholder of Jieyou, (ii)
Mr. Liao retired as Director on 27 May 2014 and resigned from all
positions held within the Group with effect from | April 2015, but
remains as a 24.70% registered shareholder of Feiyin and Weidong and
a 17.13% registered shareholder of Jieyou, (iii) Mr. Zhuang resigned as
Director and from all positions held within the Group with effect from
I April 2015, but remains as a 9.50% registered shareholder of Feiyin
and Weidong and a 48.61% registered shareholder of Jieyou, and (iv)
Mr. Wang resigned as Director with effect from 30 September 2019,
but remains as a 23.75% registered shareholder of Feiyin and Weidong
and a 20.94% registered shareholder of Jieyou.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or his connected entities had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, its parent company, or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year ended 3 |

December 2022 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into
or existed during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the Latest
Practicable Date.

REMUNERATION POLICY AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

As at 3| December 2022, the Group had 39 full-time employees. The
remuneration to the employees of the Group includes salaries, bonus
and allowances. The Group's remuneration policies are formulated based
on the performance of individual employees and are reviewed regularly.
The Group offers competitive remuneration packages to the Directors,
and the Shareholders have authorised the Board to fix the remuneration
of the Directors (including but not limited to Directors’ fees) at the
Company’s annual general meeting held on 24 May 2022. Other emoluments
are determined by the Board by reference to the Directors’ duties,

responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.
Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the remuneration of five highest

paid employees during the year ended 3| December 2022 are set out in

note |14 to the Financial Statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 3| December 2022, the percentage of the aggregate
revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer and five largest
customers accounted for approximately 37% and 71% of the Group's total

revenue, respectively.

During the year ended 3| December 2022, the percentage of the aggregate
purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier and five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 65% and 80% of the Group’s cost of

revenue, respectively.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) or any Shareholders (which to the best knowledge of the
Directors owned more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had

any interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company'’s listed

securities.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR ENDED 3| DECEMBER 2022

There was no significant event after the year ended 31 December 2022.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its business and
the communities in which it conducts business. It has adopted a proactive
approach to environmental, social and governance responsibility. The
Environmental, Social and Governance Report can be found in the appendix

to this annual report.
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Report of Directors
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations, in particular, those that have significant impact on
the Group, such as (i) the Copyright Law of the PRC (2010 Amendment),
(i) Provisions on the Administration of Online Publishing Services, and
(i) Guiding Opinions on Promoting the Healthy Development of Internet
Finance. The Audit and Compliance Committee is delegated by the Board
to monitor the Group's policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements and such policies and practices are regularly
reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
brought to the attention of the relevant employees and the relevant

operation units from time to time.

As far as the Company is aware, it has complied in material respects with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business

and operation of the Company during the year ended 3| December 2022.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions as set out in the
CG Code. Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report under this
annual report in relation to the deviations from code provisions C.1.8 of the
CG Code, the Company has complied with the code provisions in the CG
Code throughout the year ended 3| December 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles provide that every Director shall be indemnified out of the
assets and profits of the Company against all liability and loss suffered by him
as such Director in any action, suit or proceeding, whether civil or criminal,
administrative or investigative, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in

which he is acquitted.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company during the

year ended 3| December 2022 or subsisted at the end of the year of 2022.
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AUDITOR

The Financial Statements of the Group for the year ended 3| December
2022 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, certified

public accountants.

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated 29 May 2020,
8 June 2020 and the Company’s circular dated || June 2020 in relation to
the proposed change of auditors, and the Company's announcement dated 3
July 2020 in relation to the poll results of the extraordinary general meeting
of the Company held on 3 July 2020.

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 3 July 2020,
ordinary resolutions were passed by the Shareholders to, among other
things: (i) remove PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditors of the Group with
immediate effect; and (ii) appoint ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited as
auditors of the Group in place of PricewaterhouseCoopers with immediate
effect and to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual general

meeting of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, there had been no change in the Company's

auditors in any of the preceding three years.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited shall retire and being eligible to offer
themselves for re-appointment, and a resolution to this effect shall be

proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, |6
May 2023 to Friday, |19 May 2023, both days inclusive, in order to determine
the identity of the Shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday,
|9 May 2023. All transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificates and transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at |7/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong before 4:30 p.m. on
Monday, |5 May 2023.

By order of the Board
CUI Yuzhi

Chairman

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2022, due to the continuous and repeated impact of the COVID-19
pandemic, global economic growth was still slow, which has further fueled
instability of global social and economic development. Meanwhile, the
disruption of the supply chain has led to an increase in transportation and
storage costs, and the pandemic prevention and control policy has impacted
the demand for consumer goods. The business operations are under
considerable pressure. Under such circumstances, the Group continued to
adjust and optimize its business strategy to adapt to changes in the market

environment and customers’ demand.

In light of such circumstances, the Group reviewed its business development
and operations and carried out a systematic layout in terms of business
strategy. On the one hand, the Group continued to maintain its operation in
respect of the online game business and increase investment while ensuring
the achievement of its established business objectives and subsequent
development. On the other hand, the Group strengthened the development
of its trading of electronic device and semiconductor business as well as
its supporting services, so as to utilise the advantages of its resources and
platforms, enabling us to achieve joint development and enhanced long-term
efficiency for the Group’s businesses through accurate strategy positioning
and continuous adjustment and optimization of operation management
for each business segment. The Group recorded a total revenue of
approximately RMBI 4.1 million in 2022, representing a decrease of 19.7%

compared to last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWED N

In respect of the online game business, the Group’s game business mainly
consists of web games. The strategic focus on game business was mainly to
optimise the return on investment of these businesses. By cooperation with
professional teams to maintain continuous business operations of existing
online games, the Group will continue to maintain the scale of game revenue,
increase investment in games and related businesses as well as actively
explore new cooperation models for game development, operation and
distribution to improve the cost-effectiveness of game business and seek

more returns from future game business.

In respect of the trading of electronic device and semiconductor business,
while maintaining a continuous, long-term and stable cooperation with
major suppliers, the Group has expanded its overseas business scope. The
Group has also continued to provide relevant customers with a full range
of comprehensive supporting solutions such as supporting technical services
and supply chain financial services. Meanwhile, the Group attached great
importance to the operations management and fund utilization efficiency
management of the electronic device and semiconductor trading business,
thereby further improving its delicacy management capabilities. Due to
the impact of the external environment such as COVID-19 pandemic, the
logistics of the trading of electronic device and semiconductor business
was disrupted, demand was sluggish, sales fell, inventory increased, and
the expected revenue could not be achieved. Facing challenges, the Group

actively seeks and implements solutions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The following table sets forth the Group’s income statement for the year

ended 31 December 2022 as compared to that for the year ended 31

December 2021.

EEENWED N

RIS AEERE T —F+-A=+—BLF
EHEEREBE S —F+-_A=+—HIEEMNYK
ez

Bl

Year Ended 3| December
BE+=-A=1+—HLEE

2022 2021 Change
—®-=f  -—T-—% 28
RMB’000 RMB’000 %
ARMFT ARBFT =F 4
Continuing operations BEKSEER
Revenue WA 114,116 142,136 -19.7%
Cost of revenue PR R (108,343) (128,535) -15.7%
Gross profit EF 5,773 13,601 -57.6%
Selling and marketing expenses S R T 5 HE R 2 (3,474) (5,496) -36.8%
Administrative expenses TR 2 (31,060) (18,642) 66.6%
Research and development expenses RS (31,586) (7.985) 295.6%
Other income H b ugzs 4,239 2,409 76.0%
Other gains — net H b F15 58 5516 5,457 [.1%
Finance cost TSR AR (395) (218) 81.2%
Gain on disposal of investments at fair value — HEZRAFETAEZN
through profit or loss &= 6,574 20,787 -68.4%
Share of profit/(loss) of associates FE/G B N RE A (E518) 4,129 (5.263) NM
Reversal of financial assets measured at BT ENSREE
amortised cost — net B[O H58 20,002 26,967 -25.8%
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRFFS B AT (B518) &7 (20,282) 31,617 -164.1%
Income tax credit/(expense) Frs#Ee, () 175 (36) NM
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations BFRELEER(FE), B8R (20,107) 31,581 -163.7%
Discontinued operation BRI R
Loss from discontinued operation R TS 1R - (14,056) NM
(Loss)/profit for the year FR (&8 B5R (20,107) 17,525 2147%
Note: NM — Not meaningful. fizE: NM-EEXE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB AT

Continuing Operations

Revenue. Revenue decreased by approximately 19.7% to RMBI 4.1 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022 from RMBI42.1 million for the year
ended 3| December 202 1. The following table sets forth the revenue of the
Group by segment for the year ended 3| December 2022 and 3| December
2021, respectively:

FREEEER

WA - WMABBE_TE-_—F+_A=+—HIEFE
MARB 14921 AEBTRINI0TINEBE_T =
TZA=ZT—ALEFENARKI141B8T - T&RH
NBEZT - —F+-_A=+—HERZZE=Z—F+=
R=+—BILFEREEZ S ZEHHIUA

Year Ended 3| December
BZ+t=-A=1+-HLEE

2022 2021
—E-CE —E-—F
% of Total % of Total
RMB’000 Revenue RMB'000 Revenue
AR A LA A
ABMTTT Bk AREFT B
Revenue by Segment ERHEDHIBA
= Game business i 14,692 12.9 18,244 [2.8
— Electronic device & semiconductor business - EFRERFEREEY 99,424 87.1 123,892 87.2
Total Revenue FI PN I14,116 100.0 142,136 100.0

- Revenue generated from the Group’'s game business decreased
by approximately 19.5% to RMB14.7 million for the year ended
31 December 2022 from RMBI18.2 million for the year ended 31
December 202 1. Revenue generated from the online games decreased
mainly due to the fact that the Group’s two games "B =" and
“E T have entered into the mature stage of their lifecycles and

generated less revenue than the previous year.

- Revenue generated from the Group's electronic device and
semiconductor business decreased by approximately 19.7% from
RMB123.9 million for the year ended 3| December 2021 to RMB99.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. Revenue generated
from the Group's electronic device and semiconductor business
decreased mainly due to the adverse impact of COVID-19 controlling
and restriction measures on normal logistics and both the demand and
supply sides for goods. In view of disruptions caused by pandemic, the
Company adjusted business strategy and reduced the memories and
audio equipment trading for the year ended 31 December 2022, which

in turn contributed to the decrease as well.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Cost of revenue. Cost of revenue decreased by approximately 15.7% to
RMB108.3 million for the year ended 3| December 2022 from RMB128.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2021. Such decrease was in line

with the decrease of revenue.

Selling and marketing expenses. Selling and marketing expenses decreased
by approximately 36.8% to RMB3.5 million for the year ended 3| December
2022 from RMBS5.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2021. Such
decrease was mainly due to a reduction of the Group’s electronic device
and semiconductor business, which resulted in lower employee benefit and
decrease of the Group’s game business, which resulted in lower advertising

expenses.

Administrative expenses. Administrative expenses increased by
approximately 66.6% to RMB31.Imillion for the year ended 31 December
2022 from RMBI8.6million for year ended 3| December 2021. Such
increase was primarily due to the classification of the financial performance
of internet micro-credit business as discontinued operation in 2021, which

resulted in a decrease of administrative expenses for 2021.

Research and development expenses. Research and development expenses
increased by approximately 295.6% from RMB8.0 million for the year ended
31 December 2021 to RMB3 1.6 million for the year ended 3| December
2022. Such increase was primarily due to the increased research and

development investment for game business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWED N

Other income. Other income increased by approximately 76.0% from
RMB2.4 million for the year ended 3| December 2021 to RMB4.2 million for
the year ended 3| December 2022. Such increase was primarily due to an

increase of interest income for the year ended 3| December 2022.

Gain on disposal of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Gain
on disposal of investments at fair value through profit or loss decreased
by approximately 68.4% from RMB20.8 million for the year ended 3|
December 2021 to RMB6.6 million for the year ended 3| December 2022.
Such decrease was primarily due to the decrease of gain from investments
in equity securities listed in PRC and Hong Kong for the year ended 3|
December 2022.

Share of profit/(loss) of associates. Share of profit of associates was
RMB4.1 million for the year ended 3| December 2022, while share of loss
of associates was RMB5.3 million for the year ended 3| December 2021.
Such change was mainly due to the financial performance improvement of an

associate.

Reversal of financial assets measured at amortised cost — net. Reversal of
financial assets measured at amortised cost — net decreased by approximately
25.8% from RMB27.0 million for year ended 31 December 2021 to RMB20.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The net amount of reversal
in 2022 primarily consisted of reversal of previously impaired corporate
loans and the net amount of reversal in 2021 mainly consisted of reversal
of previously impaired other receivables on disposal of investment in an

associate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(Loss)/profit from continuing operations. The Group recognised loss from
continuing operations in the amount of RMB20.| million for the year ended
31 December 2022, as compared to profit of RMB31.6 million for the year

ended 3| December 2021 for the abovementioned reasons.

DISCONTINUED OPERATION

Loss from discontinued operation. The Group recognized loss from
discontinued operation in the amount of RMB 4.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2021. The loss from discontinued operation for the year
ended 3| December 2021 was the financial results of internet micro-credit

business which the Group ceased operation in 2021.

NON-IFRSs MEASURES — EBITDA AND ADJUSTED EBITDA

To supplement the consolidated results of the Group which are prepared
in accordance with IFRSs, certain non-IFRSs measures, including EBITDA
and adjusted EBITDA, have been presented. These non-IFRSs financial
measures should be considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for, the
measures of the Group's financial performance, which have been prepared
in accordance with IFRSs. The Group’'s management believes that these
non-IFRSs financial measures provide investors with useful supplementary
information to assess the performance of its core operations by excluding
certain non-cash and non-recurring items. The EBITDA and adjusted EBITDA

are unaudited figures.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BB AT

The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the Group's non-IFRSs TREJIAEERZ T _— T —%+=AH
financial measures for the years ended 3| December 2022 and 2021, to the =+ — B I FE & IEBIRR 8 B 3k 5 A B B B 5t 2 HLAR
nearest measures prepared in accordance with IFRSs: R BIPR B s i S BRI R A T 2 M AR ¢

Year Ended 3| December
BE+-ZA=1+—HLEE

2022 2021
—E- -8 —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMFT ARETT
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations FRIFHECEELE (BR),BF
for the year (20,107) 31,581
Add: -
Depreciation and amortisation e M 21,683 1,902
Net interest income F B e 558 (3,582) (1,410)
Income tax (credit)/expense Fisi(Ee) Fx (175) 36
EBITDA (unaudited) EBITDA (R E ) (2,181) 32,109
Add: il
Share-based compensation LARRD B AR B & = )
Changes in the value of investments at fair value BRAFEFABRNEEEEZD
through profit or loss 9,006 -
Gain on disposal of investments at fair value HERAFEAABRNKRER
through profit or loss &y (6,574) (20,787)
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary i BARRERE - [,106
Loss on disposal of investment in an associate HER—RHEE A ATMRERNESE 259 -
Dividends received from investments at fair value — WHUZ A FEFT ABRAKRE R
through profit or loss J=A (187) (1,139)
Reversal of impairment of other receivables on HE—fEB S R RIREEERNEAM
disposal of investment in an associate JE W R IE R (B 7 1) - (27,500)
Fair value change of share consideration payable ERHREATES = 2,792
Adjusted EBITDA (unaudited) KHEBITDACREERR) 323 (13,420)

52 FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED. 2022 Annual Report



Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2022, the total equity of the Group amounted to
RMB643.2 million as compared to that of RMB636.7 million as at 31
December 2021. Such increase was primarily due to the increased valuation
of assets, partially offset by the loss recognized for the year ended 3|

December 2022.

The Group’s net current assets amounted to RMB378.4 million as at
31 December 2022 as compared to that of RMB487.0 million as at 31

December 2021. Such decrease was primarily attributable to: (i) the

EEENWED N

AR

RZTZZF+-A=+—H r5ERZBEAA
R¥e643288T  MR_ZE-_—F+=-_A=+—04|
%Aﬁﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ ZEMDEBHNEEREE
m BORBE_T__F+_A=+—RALFER
auﬁ’w&ﬁsﬁﬁ}&iﬁ °

RZBEZZF+ZA=+—08 AEENRBHEESF
EAARKE37848E L MR _TE_—F+=-A=+
—HAIRARKB48708 & T - ZBPDEZBAR ¢ (i)

transfer of part of the inventories to “property and equipment” in line with BEEGTEBTLTEEE(MEREME] © (HEA
the business needs; (ii) increased investments at fair value through other FEFAHMEEWESAIRELI - R(i)IEBEBKE
comprehensive income; and (i) normal business operation expenses. X o
LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES RBEERHBER
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-—H
2022 2021
—Fg== —EFE—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETTT AEETFT
Cash at bank and on hand RITRFEER 154,862 208,579
Cash at other financial institutions REMESRIEERNIRS 69,761 |61,687
224,623 370,266
Bank borrowings RITIEK (3,850) (4,000)
Net Cash REFER 220,773 366,266
The Group's total cash and cash equivalent amounted to RMB224.6 milion RZ-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H AEBEMNRES KRS
as at 31 December 2022 as compared to that of RMB370.3 million as at 3| EEMERBARE46BET MRZZTZ—F+

December 2021. The decrease was primarily attributable to the increase of
investments at fair value through profit or loss and the investments at fair

value through other comprehensive income.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWED N

The Group adopts a prudent cash and financial management policy. In order
to achieve better cost control and minimise the cost of funding, the Group's
treasury activities are centralised and cash is generally deposited with banks

and denominated mostly in USD, followed by RMB.

As of 31 December 2022, the Group's bank borrowings were repayable
within | year and the interest rate is at one year Loan Prime Rate plus 0.7%
(as of 31 December 2021: one year Loan Prime Rate plus 0.95%). As at 31
December 2022, the Group's gearing ratio (calculated as bank borrowing
divided by total assets) increased to a level of 0.53% (as at 3| December

2021:0.55%), which the Board believes is at an acceptable level.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

As at 31 December 2022, RMB186.4 million of the financial resources of the
Group (as at 3| December 2021: RMBI122.7 million) were held as deposits
denominated in non-RMB currencies. Such increase was the result of the
Group's active foreign exchange rates management. The Group will continue
to actively manage its exposure to various foreign currencies and monitor its

foreign exchange risk exposure to better preserve the Group's cash value.

AEBERMBENRS RV BERECK - BEREE
B AEGIRGESK AR ERE  NEBHESE
BETERER  BRE—MEFEARITERIBOUE
TLEHE  HIRBARE -

BE-T-—_F+-A=+—H0 A£ENETER
BR—FRNEE  FERB—FHERMHREFEM
07%@if;ff¢+ A=+—8: —FHEX
% B F 2 HN0.95%) ° EA_$::¢+*H*+—
AEENEEABLERRITERRINEES
.# 1) BIEE0SIBM KR T —F+=A= Jr*
H :055%)  EXERRERAEMKT -

S EE LB

RIZTZZZF+ZA=+—8  *5ENUBERR
AREEI864BET(R=_FE=_—F+=-_A=+—8":
ARBI227B8T)NIEARBE R ENTFRE
B ZENNAEERBELEENER - AEEH
TR IETE AR E BT R IMNE /9 B B R BE 2 E HNEE [ FR
NEIF R A SRR EE -

o

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES BEXRX
Year ended 3| December
BE+=-A=+—-HLFE
2022 2021
—sg-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR FT ARBTF T
Capital expenditures BERFAE
— Purchase of property and equipment -BEMELEE 122 36,183
— Purchase of intangible asset -BEEVEE - 723
Total st 122 36,906
Capital expenditures (excluding business combination) comprise the ;§$E§J§Z(Wﬁ%fx/*\f#>@%,ﬁ\%§%¥&%&ﬁ + f7l4m

purchase of property and equipment, such as operation equipment and

leasehold improvement.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 3| December 2022, the Group had a pledge of assets of RMBO. |
million (as at 31 December 2021: RMBO.7 million) as restricted cash for

corporate credit card deposits.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any significant unrecorded
contingent liabilities (as at 31 December 2021 nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

During 2022, the Group held a significant investment in an associate detailed

EEENWED N

BEEERF

RZB-_—_F+-_A=+—H AEEFFERE
EARBLIBELTR-_ZF_—%+-_A=1+—8:
ARKOTEEBL)  ERARGERARRENZRHIR

%

HAREE
RCZ-—F+-A=+—HB ARETEEFEKN

AEENIABBEMR -_FT=_—F+-_A=1+—8:
&) -

EARE

KRB —F  AEEKE-HEAON —BBEQ

as follows: AIMRERFITHT ¢
Percentage of ownership
interest attributable to the
Group as at 3| December
Rt=R=+-H
FEBEEERE
BEADL
Carrying
amount as at 3| Investment Registered
Company name Date of incorporation December 2022 Cost capital 2022 2021
R=2==F
+=A=+-H
RAEEW R AL B 5 HIRESH RERA AMER it 3 —E-F
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETT ARETT AREFT
ERDZRRBERNDERAF 23 February 201 | 62909 4,000 26982 9.27% 9.60%

—E——%-A-1=H
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IR D ZRABHERMD BR A A (transliterated as Beijing Share Times
Technology Co., Limited, “Share Times") is a company that develops and
operates intellectual properties (“IPs") of celebrities, including design,
promotion, and sales of IPs. Share Times was recognized as investments
in associates. In 2022, the Group recognised share of profit of associates
of approximately RMB4.3 million and gain on dilution of investment in an
associate of approximately RMB8.| million from Share Times. The Group
will continue supporting the business development of Share Times, and
seek synergy between Share Times and other investments of the Group to

maximize their performances.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 39 full-time employees (as at 3 |
December 202 1: 46), the vast majority of whom are based in the PRC.

For details of the Group’s remuneration policies and training schemes,
please refer to the section headed "Remuneration Policy and Directors’

Remuneration” contained in the Report of Directors in this annual report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL INVESTMENT, ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

Subscription in limited partnership fund

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
31 August 2022 and 8 April 2022 in relation to the Subscription
(collectively, the “Subscription Announcements”). Unless otherwise
specified, capitalised terms used in this section shall have the same
meanings as those defined in the Subscription Announcements.
On 8 April 2022, Foga Tech Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into the supplemental limited partnership
agreement with Sailing Limited Partnership Fund, pursuant to which
the Subscriber agreed to subscribe for the Limited Partner Interests
in the Fund, for a capital commitment of US$4 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$3 1.3 million) instead of the capital commitment
of US$I million (equivalent to approximately HK$7.8 million) under
the limited partnership agreement entered into between the two
parties on 23 December 2021. Nonetheless, having considered the
non-improvement of the global economy as well as the repeated
COVID-19 pandemic in the Mainland China recently, the Company
decided to withdraw from the Subscription and on 31 August 2022,
the Subscriber and the General Partner entered into a subscription
withdrawal agreement. As a result, the Subscriber has no obligation to

proceed with the Subscription.

Subscription for strategic investment allotment under A-share IPO

of Techvision Intelligent

On 13 October 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
Guangzhou Feidong (the “Subscriber”), entered into the Strategic
Allotment Subscription Agreement with Techvision Intelligent, pursuant
to which Techvision Intelligent conditionally agrees to issue to the
Subscriber, and the Subscriber conditionally agrees to participate in
the strategic allotment to subscribe for, 1,596,000 shares in Techvision
Intelligent’s public issuance under A-share IPO at a subscription price of
RMB8.00 per share for a total subscription amount of RMB12,768,000.
Pursuant to the Strategic Allotment Agreement, upon completion of
the Subscription, the Subscriber will hold an aggregate of 2.41% to
2.50% of the enlarged total issued shares of Techvision Intelligent. For
details of this transaction, please refer to the announcement of the

Company dated |4 October 2022.
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UPDATE ON LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Lawsuit relating to alleged violation of right of publicity

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
2 September 2021, I3 October 2020 and 22 April 2020 (the “U.S.
Announcements”) in relation to, among others, the Complaint filed
by Ms. Gomez as plaintiff against, among others, the Company and its
certain subsidiaries as defendants, in the Supreme Court of California
in the US in respect of an action for violation of and conspiracy to
violate statutory and common law right of publicity. Unless otherwise
stated herein, capitalised terms used in this section shall have the same

meanings as those defined in the U.S. Announcements.

The jury trial of the above lawsuit is scheduled to be heard on 8 May
2023, subject to further developments. The Company is currently
seeking legal advice, and will issue further announcement(s) for any

material development of this matter as and where appropriate.

Contractual dispute involving the Company and a former Director

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated
2 September 2021, 8 June 2021 and 14 May 2021 (the “Pingxiang
Announcements”) in relation to the legal proceedings involving a capital
injection agreement allegedly entered into between, among others,
the Company and Mr. Wang Dongfeng, a former Director. Unless
otherwise stated herein, capitalised terms used in this section shall have

the same meanings as those defined in the Pingxiang Announcements.

The Company received the judgment of the first instance in this case
on 29 December 2022, which resulted in the dismissal of all litigation
requests of Pingxiang Huisheng Industrial Investment Management
Co., Ltd* C¥AMER TEIREEE AR AT (the “Plaintiff’). The
appeal period has now expired and, upon confirmation with Jiangxi
Pingxiang Intermediate People’'s Court* (JLPE& AT H A A RE
B), Plaintiff did not appeal against the first instance judgment and the

case has therefore concluded on 14 January 2023.

POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENT

There was no significant subsequent event from the year end date of 3|

December 2022 to the approval date of the audited consolidated annual

results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 by the Board.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RISKS AND HURDLES

The Group is exposed to a number of risks, including macroeconomic and
external risks common to most industries, as well as risks specific to the
industries in which the Group operates. The Group has formulated policies
to ensure continuous identification, reporting, monitoring and management

of significant risks that may affect its business development.

As to the online game business operated by the Group, the Group is mainly
exposed to the following types of risks: (i) industry policies and regulatory
risks. Any changes and adjustments in polices by governmental or regulatory
bodies could affect the market, and as the online game industry is subject
to the supervision of various relevant authorities, this may have an adverse
impact on its business operations; (ii) the risk of declines in current game
revenue and profitability. Due to the life cycle of online games, changes in
player's preferences may cause uncertainties around the Company's future
business performance; (iii) the rapid market changes from existing webgames
to mobile games may have an adverse impact on its business operations;
and (iv) research and development investment is subject to time lag and

uncertainty risks arising from the input-output cycle.

As to the electronic device and semiconductor business, the Group is mainly
exposed to the following types of risks: (i) exchange risk. Since the Group's
operations involve settlement in US dollars, it is exposed to the risk of
fluctuations in exchange rates of the currency; and (ii) inventory management
risk. Due to the high value of electronic device and semiconductor products,
their market prices are volatile and vulnerable to external influences,
including macroeconomic cycles and force majeure such as the pandemic,
which may cause inventory backlogs and capital occupancy, increasing

financial and operational risks.

All of the above may have an adverse effect on the Group's performance.
In addition, the Group is exposed to risks such as research and development
cost recovery efficiency, impairment loss due to invested companies’ under-
performance or contract party becoming insolvent, and failures of material
litigations or arbitrations, all of which will have an adverse effect on the

Group's performance.

EEENWED

2 B Bz PR

AEBHBESZRR  SEBRATSITEFTRZEH
KOBEFIIND R KR - BRI E AR EBASE R T%ﬁ
BWER NEBEHIERE - MRFEEHT -

& EEKREIRAE ﬁﬁm%ﬁﬁFLﬁwamik
[ZBg o

RAREFELHBEEBEBTE - ARBEEE
ﬁurﬁ%mﬂm:mﬁ%ﬁ%mgﬁnuoﬁﬁ
EERERENEARDBAEL TRV ETHE

WIS HERITES J;ﬂﬁ%%ﬂmﬁﬁ'ET%Aﬁ
EXBEBELEETHFE  (VREHEEKARAEFR

BEATRNEAR ARNEKEREELEGESR IR
F%W“M&% BARBRKEEREELETHEE
(i REREBERABBDERNRETIHZE( - 7
REHEXBELEETIRE  RVIABERAREK
ANEE B HA P s SR B DR 1R S M HEE 1E LR o

HEFRERFEBEBMS  AEEEZEBRAT
BRIMER - (EXKREER - AR ARENLED
&%E%Z CAAKERRBNEAR  R(i)FEERE

cHREFRERFERBELNEBERS  Em
Wﬁ%%Tﬁ@HK*Hﬁﬂf%@ﬂﬁ% LIk
NIMEIEFINEHE  REXRFERRE - E2EA
e TS g R -

LRARERRARUAEEREEETMNEE - It
O AEEE GO ER RO EERE - FRER
ANERRARELANTENEBERELRERSR
AR GEEEARBHFEBFERR  AEZEE
IS H AN B B ER R E

EWRERERAT FEHs02 D9



Management Discussion and Analysis
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FUTURE PLANS

Looking ahead to 2023, the Group will still face many pressures caused
by the pandemic, such as economic downturn inertia influence, industry
competition, accelerated product update, and stricter policy supervision in
the game industry. The Group will continue to maintain active responses,
expand new areas, invest in cloud computing and cloud games, and explore
and introduce emerging technologies such as blockchain. The Group will
convert emerging technologies into new business growth points. The
Group believes that these fields have huge potential and will become the
future development trend. The Group will actively explore opportunities
for business upgrading and transformation, and implement various business
strategies formulated. Through the development of business diversification,
the Group will stabilise income sources, enhance operating efficiency,
improve cost control and strengthen cost management, so as to improve the

return on its assets.

As an ancient Chinese poetry goes, “The horse is against the mighty wind,
and the bird makes a nest on the branches.” The Group will continue to
actively seek to expand and innovate its business, optimise its business
structure and improve management efficiencies based on a perspective of
sustainable development and a prudent, optimistic and positive attitude, in an

effort to deliver value for our stakeholders and shareholders in the long run.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the

Company’s annual report for the year ended 3| December 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE COMPANY

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance
corporate value of the Group and accountability of the Board. The
Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the code provisions

as set out in the CG Code.

Save as disclosed in this Corporate Governance Report in relation to
the deviation from code provisions C.1.8 of the CG Code, the Directors
consider that the Company has complied with all the code provisions as set

out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 3| December 2022.

A. The Board

I. Roles and Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and is responsible for promoting the success of the Group
by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board has established
Board committees and has delegated to these Board committees
various responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of
reference which are published on the respective websites of the

Stock Exchange and the Company.
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The Board, after considering the advice and recommendations
from the Board committees, monitors the Group's operating and
financial performance and ensures that effective governance and
sound internal control and risk management systems are in place.
Significant matters which may have an impact on the performance
of the Group are reserved for the Board's consideration and

approval, including:

- approval and monitoring of all major policies of the Group;

- overall strategies and budgets;

- internal control and risk management systems;

- notifiable transactions and connected transactions (as

defined in the Listing Rules);

- nomination of Directors and company secretary; and

- other significant financial and operational matters.

All the Directors, including the Non-executive Director and
the Independent Non-executive Directors, have brought a
wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective
operation. Upon reasonable request, all the Directors can seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at

the Company’s expense.

All the Directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and services of the company
secretary of the Company, with a view to ensuring that Board

procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

All Directors have carried out their duties in good faith and
in compliance with the standards of applicable laws, rules and
regulations, and have acted in the best interests of the Company

and the Shareholders at all times.
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Corporate Governance Report

Delegation of Management Function

The day-to-day management, administration and operations
of the Group are delegated to the senior management of the
Group. The responsibilities delegated by the Board to the senior

management include:

- execution of overall strategies adopted by the Board;

- monitoring of budgets approved by the Board;

- implementation of internal control and risk management

systems; and

- preparation of the annual and interim reports and the

results announcements for the Board's approval.

Before entering into any significant transactions or commitments
on the Company's behalf, senior management of the Company
should obtain prior approval and authorization from the
Board. The Board periodically reviews the above delegation
arrangements to ensure the appropriateness of such

arrangements.
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Board Composition

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Board consisted of six
Directors, two of whom were Executive Directors, one of
whom was Non-executive Director and three of whom were

Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 3| December 2022 and up to the Latest

Practicable Date, the Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors  Mr. CUIl Yuzhi (Chairman)
Mr. ZHU Liang (Chief Financial Officer)

Non-executive Mr. HAN Jun (re-designated from an
Director Executive Director to a Non-executive
Director with effect from 24 May
2022)

Independent Non- Mr. WANG Dong (retired with effect
executive Directors from 24 May 2022)
Mr. WONG Chi Kin
Mr. LU Xiaoma
Mr. JI Yong

Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 93 to 99 of this

annual report.

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all
corporate communications issued by the Company from time
to time pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Independent Non-
executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate
communications pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Company
maintains on its website and on the Stock Exchange's website an
updated list of all Directors identifying their role and function and

whether they are Independent Non-executive Directors.
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Corporate Governance Report

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and in this annual report,
to the best knowledge of the Company, there are no financial,
business, family or other material relationships among members

of the Board.

Upon their respective appointments, each of the Independent
Non-executive Directors has submitted a written statement
to the Stock Exchange confirming his independence and has
undertaken to inform the Stock Exchange as soon as practicable if
there is any subsequent change of circumstances which may affect
his independence. The Company has also received a written
confirmation from each of the Independent Non-executive
Directors (namely Mr. WONG Chi Kin, Mr. LU Xiaoma and Mr.
JI Yong) in respect of his independence in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers all Independent Non-executive Directors
to be independent in accordance with the independence

requirements set out in the Listing Rules.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and

removal of Directors are set out in the Articles.

All the Directors are subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. Any new Director appointed (i) to fill a
causal vacancy shall hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company or (ii) as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the

Company and shall be eligible for re-election by the Shareholders.

For details of the service contracts of the Directors, please refer
to the section headed “Report of Directors — Directors’ service

contracts” in this annual report.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, inter alia,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment
and reappointment of Directors and succession planning for
the Directors. For further details on the functions of the
Nomination Committee, please refer to the section headed
“Board Committee — Nomination Committee” in this Corporate

Governance Report.

Induction and Continuing Development for Directors

Each newly appointed Director receives formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her
appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has the appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group and
that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations

under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

Ongoing training and professional development are arranged by
the Group for the Directors to keep abreast of the latest trends
and issues facing the Group. The Directors receives information
related to the developments in the legal and regulatory regime
and the business and market environments regularly to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills required in performing of

their responsibilities.
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For the year ended 3| December 2022, all Directors have
participated in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by way of attending training sessions arranged by
the Group's Legal advisors and receiving reading materials
and updates related to corporate governance practices and
directors’ responsibilities. The Company encourages all Directors
to participate in training courses for continuous professional

development at the expense of the Company.

Director’s Liability Insurance

Code provision C.1.8 of the CG Code stipulates that an issuer
should arrange appropriate insurance cover in respect of legal

action against its directors.

As the Company needs time to consider proposals from various
insurance underwriters, as at the time of this report, the
Company has not taken out an insurance covering the Directors’

liability arising from legal proceedings yet.

Board Meetings and General Meetings

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code prescribes that at
least four regular Board meetings should be held each year at
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of a
majority of Directors, either in person or through electronic

means of communication.
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The Board held four regular Board meetings during the year REBE—ZT - —_F+-_A=1+T—HIFED
ended 31 December 2022 for the discussion of the Group's HfE - EEgRTOACHSZUABIARE
affairs, reviewing and approving the financial and operating B =7 BHRIEREBERMEREESE
performance, and considering and approving the overall strategies 1B WERRBERE BRI RBUR
and policies of the Group. In total, the Board held 7 Board REBEE_ZE__F+_A=+—HILFEDN
meetings during the year ended 3| December 2022. HiE EeHAR7TRESTgSR -
The attendance records of each Director at the Board meetings XEELREE T -_—_F+_-_A=+—H
and the general meetings of the Company (whether in person FTFEERT2ESTEERRARARREKR
or by means of electronic communication) held during the year F(ERRSNEF BN O A0
ended 31 December 2022 are set out below: N
Name of Director Board meetings General meetings
EspR ExgEe3 BREAE

Executive Directors

HITEF

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman) 717 1/1
BEFELEERE)

Mr. ZHU Liang 717 [/1
RREE

Non-executive Director

FHiTEE

Mr. HAN Jun (re-designated with effect from 24 May 2022) 6/7 1/1

BEhRE(F-F=_—F7aH=1HHT)

Independent Non-executive Directors

BUIBTTEF

Mr. WANG Dong (retired with effect from 24 May 2022) 2/2 I/1
ITRAE(E=F=—F A A=1THARL)

Mr. WONG Chi Kin 717 [/1
BEEREE

Mr. LU Xiaoma 717 I/1
BEHSEE

Mr. JI Yong 717 I/1
MBRA
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Practices and Conduct of Meetings

The annual meeting schedule and draft agenda of each meeting
are made available to Directors in advance. Arrangements are
also in place to ensure that Directors are given an opportunity to

include matters in the agenda.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all Directors at
least |4 days before the meetings. For other Board and Board
committee meetings, notice is given to the Directors and Board
committee members in a timely manner pursuant to the Articles

and terms of reference of each Board committee respectively.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before
each Board meeting or Board committee meeting to keep the
Directors apprised of the latest developments and financial
position of the Group and to enable them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management of the Company

whenever necessary.

Senior management of the Company attend meetings of the
Board and Board committees as and when necessary to supply
information on the Group's business developments, financial
and accounting matters, statutory and regulatory compliance,
corporate governance practices and other major aspects of the

Group.

The company secretary of the Company is responsible for
taking and keeping minutes of meetings of the Board and Board
committees, which record sufficient details of the matters
considered by the Directors and decisions made, including any
proposal raised by the Directors or dissenting views expressed.
Draft minutes are normally circulated to Directors for comment
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final version

is open for Directors’ inspection.

The Articles contain provisions requiring the Directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings
for approving transactions in which any such Directors or any of
their associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) have a material

interest.
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Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be

performed by the same individual.

The roles of chairman and chief executive officer of the Company vest
in Mr. CUI Yuzhi and Mr. DENG Ge respectively with clear distinction
in responsibilities. The Board is of the view that there are adequate
balance of power and safeguards in place. Nevertheless, the Board
will continue to monitor and review the Company's current structure
and to make necessary changes at an appropriate time. The Board will
continue to monitor and review the Company’s corporate governance
practices from time to time to ensure compliance with the latest

statutory requirements and professional standards.

Board Committees

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board had four
Board committees, namely the Remuneration Committee, the Audit
and Compliance Committee, the Nomination Committee, and the
Corporate Governance Committee for overseeing particular aspects
of the Group’s affairs. All of these four Board committees of the

Company are established with defined written terms of reference.

The majority of the members of each of the Remuneration Committee,
the Audit and Compliance Committee, the Nomination Committee,
and the Corporate Governance Committee during the year ended 3|

December 2022 were Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the

Company's expense.
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Remuneration Committee

We have established the Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules and the code provisions under E.| of the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee comprised three members, of whom
two were Independent Non-executive Directors and one was

Non-executive Director:

Mr. JI Ying (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
(appointed as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee with

effect from 24 May 2022)

Mr. WONG Chi Kin

Mr. HAN Jun

Mr. WANG Dong (ceased to be chairman of the Remuneration
Committee with effect from 24 May 2022)

The primary roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee
include, but are not limited to: (i) making recommendations to
the Board on the policy and structure for the remuneration of
the Directors and senior management of the Company and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy, (ii) reviewing and approving
the senior management’s remuneration proposals by reference
to the Board's corporate goals and objectives and ensuring that
it is consistent with contractual terms and are reasonable and
appropriate, and (iii) determining the terms of the remuneration
package of the Directors and senior management by reference
to their time commitment and responsibilities, employment

condition in the Group, and comparable companies.
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The Remuneration Committee held | meeting during the
year ended 3| December 2022 to, inter alia, (i) review the
remuneration policy and structure of the Company, (ii) assess
performance of the Executive Directors and approve the terms
of their service contracts, (iii) make recommendations to the
Board on determining the annual remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Company, (iv) consider
the remuneration and the terms of the service contracts of
the newly appointed Directors, and (v) deal with other matters

related to the foregoing.

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee
meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set

out below:

HE-Z-_—F+-A=t+—HLFENH
M HFMEESHBITIREE  UWERR
B ()VEHARQ B MHMECE RERE « ()T
HRTEERIE RIEE RS S DK
(i) REBEEARAREERSREEENTFE
FWEBERNEESREEEBER - (WBE
MEZEAESOHIRRE S LK - RV
FRIPERMETEAENEMER o

BE T -+ _-_A=+—BHItFELT
NEMEE TSR I HERENT «

Meeting attended/

Committee members Total
ZEERE HESE Bt
Mr. ]l Yong (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee) (appointed with effect from 24 May 2022) 0/0
MBREGFHWEREEE)(E-—F-_—FOoA—1THAEZ(T)
Mr. WONG Chi Kin [/1
BEBEE
Mr. HAN Jun [/1
BEELE
Mr. WANG Dong (ceased to be the chairman of the Remuneration Committee with effect from

24 May 2022) [/1

ITREE(E—E-——FAA-—FIOATHELHFNEZSE S F/E)

Please refer to note 42(b) to the Financial Statements for details
of the remuneration of the members of the senior management.
The remuneration of the members of the senior management by

band is set out below:

Remuneration band

EHASREEASHFMNFHIEFE2HHMBER
#*HfEE42(b) - SREBRABREBEE HH
HrENE T

Number of persons

N E A
Nil to RMB 1,000,000 per annum 9

FFAREZTTE ARK,0000007T

Note: the above members of senior management include Directors and
other members of senior management of the Company (including
| retired Director and other members of senior management who
resigned in 2022).
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Audit and Compliance Committee

We have established the Audit and Compliance Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules and the code provisions set out in paragraphs D.3
and A.2 of the CG Code. The Audit and Compliance Committee
comprised three members, all of whom were Independent Non-

executive Directors:

Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Audit and Compliance

Committee)

Mr. WANG Dong (ceased to be a member of the Audit and
Compliance Committee with effect from 24 May 2022)

Mr. LU Xiaoma

Mr. JI Yong (appointed as a member of the Audit and Compliance
Committee with effect from 24 May 2022)

The Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee is
Mr. WONG Chi Kin, who holds the appropriate professional
qualifications as required under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the
Listing Rules.
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The primary roles and functions of the Audit and Compliance

Committee include, but are not limited to:

(i) reviewing and monitoring the relationship of the external
auditors and the Group, particularly the independence, objectivity
and effectiveness of the external auditor, (ii) providing an
independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process and risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, (iii) overseeing the audit process and performing other
duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board from time to
time, (iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the policies and
practices on corporate governance, compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements and the Listing Rules, in particular, the
corporate governance functions set out in the code provision
A2.1 of the CG Code, (v) reviewing the financial information of
the Group and ensuring compliance with accounting standards
and reviewing significant adjustments resulting from audit, and
(vi) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct

applicable to the employees of the Group and the Directors.

For the year ended 3| December 2022, the Audit and Compliance
Committee has considered and reviewed the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and has discussed
matters in relation to risk management and internal control
systems and financial reporting function with the management of
the Company. The Audit and Compliance Committee considers
that the annual financial results of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 have been prepared in compliance with
the relevant accounting standards, rules and regulations and

appropriate disclosures have been duly made.
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The Audit and Compliance Committee held 5 meetings during
the year ended 31 December 2022 to, inter alia, (i) review
the Group’s interim and annual financial results and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures and consider the
report from the internal auditor on the Group's internal control,
(ii) review the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices (including but not limited to training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, compliance with the Model Code
by the Directors, and the Company’s compliance with the CG
Code), (iii) review the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, (iv) review the effectiveness of the internal
audit function of the Group, (v) consider the re-appointment of
the external auditors, and (vi) deal with other matters related to

the foregoing.

The attendance records of the Audit and Compliance Committee
meetings held during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set

out below:

TEER®RE

REBEEZT-_—_F+-A=+—HILFEHN
HfE - SRRkERESGHBITIRNE SR
LA AR B 4E) () B B AN R B B R S [E B 7%
RERRE  UBRRREHRER  ZEEAE
SEAEG 2N EZRE - ()FHAR
RAGEECHRRERER(BFEETRNE
EREREREZHIRFEZEER - K
NABETERAREERECHRRER &
FEFIRETRIR AR RIEFREE R
ZIER) - (i) EBAE EREREIE R AT
HIRG - (v ANEERNBEZBENE
B - (v)E REEINDZERAD - R (vi) BRI
BRI EIEARAN EMER o

BE T - _—F+_-_A=+—BHItFELT
MEZEEAREE SR HELENT

Meeting attended/

Committee members Total
ZEERE HESE Bt
Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee) 5/5
BEBRELE(BERAHRZEETE)
Mr. WANG Dong (ceased to be a member of the Audit and Compliance Committee with effect from

24 May 2022) 212
ITREE(E-FE-—FAA T HATHEFERRERZSEHKE)
Mr. LU Xiaoma 5/5
BEESEE
Mr. ]l Yong (appointed as a member of the Audit and Compliance Committee with effect from

24 May 2022) 1/3

NBEE(E B —FAA A EZERERRERES

The Group’s annual results for the year ended 3| December
2022 and this Corporate Governance Report have been reviewed
and agreed by the Audit and Compliance Committee in a meeting
held on 23 March 2023.
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3.  Nomination Committee 3. REZEY
We have established the Nomination Committee with written HMERBEEEEATRIZEBIE TR
terms of reference in compliance with the code provisions under BXKIIREEZE G R EmBESGE -
B.3 of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee comprised REZESERE=—FKE - HRAREZRBE L
three members, of whom two were Independent Non-executive FEHITEE  —BAEWTESE:

Directors and one was Executive Director:

Mr. CUI Yuzhi (Chairman of the Nomination Committee) EFHEEEREZEEFE)

Mr. WANG Dong (ceased to be a member of the Nomination FRAEE(BEZFE_—_FAA_F+HATH
Committee with effect from 24 May 2022) BEEEZEEEHKE)

Mr. LU Xiaoma BEH BLE

Mr. ]I Yong (appointed as a member of the Nomination RBEE(B-—E-_—FAA—FIHAEZ
Committee with effect from 24 May 2022) ERIBEZEEMKE)
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The primary roles and functions of the Nomination Committee
include, but are not limited to (i) reviewing the composition of
the Board; (ii) identifying, selecting and recommending to the
Board appropriate candidates to serve as Directors and the
chief executive officer of the Company, (iii) recommending
succession planning for the Directors, (iv) overseeing the process
for evaluating the performance of the Board and the Directors,
(v) developing, recommending to the Board and monitoring
a nomination policy for the Group, and (vi) assessing the

independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee held | meeting during the year
ended 3| December 2022 to, inter alia, (i) review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and identify suitable candidates
to become members of the Board, (ii) review and assess
procedures for the nomination of Directors and composition
of the Board by reference to the Company’s policy for the
nomination of Directors (the “Nomination Policy”) and board
diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) respectively,
the summaries of which are set out in the following paragraphs
headed “Nomination Policy” and “Summary of the Board
Diversity Policy”, respectively in this section, (iii) assess the
independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors, (iv)
consider the appointment of new Directors, and (v) discuss other

matters related to the foregoing.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee meetings
held during the year ended 3| December 2022 are set out

below:

TEER®RE

REZEENEIZAGRYEBERTR
® o ()VERESSMERK - (Ve - Bk
RRAEESEHBSEABLELRARARES
RERBHITE  (NVEBESNETTE -
(iv) EBESRESSRRMNTHEER © (v
HE MEEFERZERERASENIRE R
® o RV)FAZBYIEMITESNB L o

HE_ZT-—F+-A=+—HILFENH
M REZEGHBITIAEE  UEHFE
) (VEHNESSEE  BERAEKREY
BEEBEMNEEAKBESENE  (i)D 5l
SBARARESREBR(BEEEKDRE
zeZtBR(EEEZ ) (HBE
ARERAH T [IREBERIRESES
T L BRI R BB KT ES RS
REMEFSAK © (i)TZBLIFNTE
EMBLME  (WERBHESHNED - k()
SEmE EEAENEMER o

BE T - _—F+_-_A=+—BHItFELET
MIRBZECR I HELHEIHIIOT ¢

Meeting attended/

Committee members Total
ZEERE HESE At
Mr. CUI Yuzhi 1/1
EFHEELE
Mr. WANG Dong (ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from

24 May 2022) 1/1
ITREE(E-FE-—FAA AT BELIEEZEEEKE)
Mr. LU Xiaoma [/1
BEHSEE
Mr. ]l Yong (appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect from 24 May 2022) 0/0

MBhRE(E—E - —FAA-FIAEZ T RIEEZESKE)
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The composition and diversity of the Board were considered by
taking into account the necessary balance of skills and experience
to provide effective leadership for the development of the
Group's business. The chairman of the Board and the Executive
Directors possess extensive experience in the fields of IT and
game business. The Executive Directors, the Non-executive
Director and the Independent Non-executive Directors possess
professional knowledge in management, investment, finance
and regulatory areas respectively with broad and extensive

experience in business advisory services and management.

Where vacancies on the Board arise, the Nomination Committee
will carry out the selection process in accordance with the
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy by making

reference to a range of diversity perspectives.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Board Diversity Policy was adopted by the Company
pursuant to the resolutions of the Board. The Board Diversity
Policy aims to set out the approach to assess the diversity of the
Board. The Board Diversity Policy applies to the Board but not
to the diversity in relation to the employees of the Company,
nor the board of directors or the employees of any subsidiary
of the Company. In reviewing and assessing the composition of
the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge, industry expertise and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that
the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination
Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy and will
discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any
such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval. As
at the date of this report, the Board comprises six Directors, all
are male. The Company values gender diversity, and the Board
targets to appoint at least one Director of different gender no
later than 31 December 2024. The Company aims to maintain an
appropriate balance of diversity of the Board in supporting the

attainment of its strategic objectives and sustainable development.
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In addition, as of 31 December 2022, the percentage of female
members in all employees (including senior management) of the
Company was 27%. The Company will continue to take gender
diversity into consideration during recruitment, identify and select
potential female talents with different skills, experience and

knowledge to join the Company.

The Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy was adopted by the Company pursuant
to Board resolutions. The Nomination Committee will review the
Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness
of the Nomination Policy and will discuss any revisions that may
be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval. The Nomination Policy is set out as

below:

Objective

This policy sets out the criteria and procedures to be
adopted when considering candidates to be appointed or

re-elected as directors of the Company.

2. Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by
the Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a

proposed candidate:

. Reputation for integrity;

0 Accomplishment and experience in the financial
services industry, in particular, in the securities,

commodities and futures markets;

. Commitment in respect of available time and relevant

interest;

. Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

and
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. Requirement for the Board to have independent
non-executive Directors in accordance with the
Listing Rules and whether the candidates would
be considered independent by reference to the

independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be

exhaustive and decisive.

3. Nomination Process

3.1. Nomination by the Nomination Committee

3.1.1 The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board periodically and make
recommendation on any proposed changes to the
Board;

3.1.2 When it is necessary to fill a causal vacancy or appoint
an additional director, the Nomination Committee
identifies or selects candidates as recommended
to the Committee, with or without assistance from
external agencies or the Company, pursuant to the

criteria set out in section 2 above;

3.1.3 If the process yields two or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee shall rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each candidate (where

applicable);

3.1.4 The Nomination Committee makes recommendation
to the Board including the terms and conditions of the

appointment;
3.1.5 The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment

of Directors based upon the recommendation of the

Nomination Committee; and
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3.1.6 In order to provide information of the candidates

nominated by the Board to stand for election
at a general meeting, a circular will be sent to
Shareholders. The names, brief biographies (including
qualifications and relevant experience), independence,
proposed remuneration and any other information
of the proposed candidates as required pursuant to
the Listing Rules and other applicable laws, rules and

regulations will be included in the circular.

3.2. Re-election of Director at Annual General Meeting

3.2.1

In accordance with the Articles, every Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
every three years and shall be eligible for re-election

at each annual general meeting;

3.2.2 The Nomination Committee shall review the overall

3.23

contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring Director. The Nomination Committee
shall also review the expertise and professional
qualifications of the retiring Director who offered
himself/herself for re-election at the annual general
meeting to determine whether such Director
continues to meet the criteria as set out in section 2

above; and

Based on the review made by Nomination
Committee, the Board shall make recommendations
to shareholders on candidates standing for re-election
at the annual general meeting of the Company, and
provide the available biographical information of the
retiring director in accordance with the Listing Rules
to enable Shareholders to make the informed decision
on the re-election of such candidates at annual general

meeting of the Company.
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3.3. Nomination by Shareholders

The Shareholders may propose a person for election as a
director in accordance with the Articles, the Listing Rules
and applicable law, details of which are set out in the
“Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director” of the Company (please refer to the

website of the Company).

Corporate Governance Committee

The Company has established the Corporate Governance
Committee on 22 May 2020. During the year ended 3|
December 2022, the Corporate Governance Committee
comprised three members, of whom two were Independent

Non-executive Directors and one was Executive Director:

Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Corporate Governance

Committee)

Mr. CUI Yuzhi

Mr. WANG Dong (ceased to be a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee with effect from 24 May 2022)

Mr. JI Yong (appointed as a member of the Corporate
Governance Committee with effect from 24 May 2022)

The primary roles and functions of the Corporate Governance
Committee include, but are not limited to: (i) formulate
and review the Company's corporate governance policies
and practices, and make recommendations to the Board, (ii)
review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, (i) review
and monitor the Company’s compliance with the law and
regulatory requirements, policies and practices, (iv) formulate,
review and monitor codes of conduct and compliance manuals
(if any) applicable to employees and Directors, (v) make
recommendations to the Board on major projects of the
Company, and (vi) review the Company’s compliance with the
code provisions contained in the CG Code and disclosure of
corporate governance reports contained in the annual reports
of the Company. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the

Corporate Governance Committee held | meeting.
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The attendance records of the Corporate Governance BE_T - _F+_R=1+—HIEFEET
Committee meetings held during the year ended 3| December MEEEREES SR IHBALENT ¢

2022 are set out below.

Meeting attended/

Committee members Total
ZEERE HEEE B
Mr. WONG Chi Kin (Chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee) 1/1
BEEBREE(ERERZEEET/E)
Mr. CUI Yuzhi [/1
EFHEELE
Mr. WANG Dong (ceased to be the chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee with effect

from 24 May 2022) 0/0

IRARE(E—F - —FAA-—FHATBETLEFEELZREKR)
Mr. JI Yong (appointed as a member of the Corporate Governance Committee with effect from

24 May 2022) 1/
MBRE(E-—F-_—FaA-—tHABZIREFELZREKR)

Model Code for Securities Transactions D. BFERFZNEZRESFH

The Company has adopted the code of conduct and procedures RABBRBETRLESTE ERAREEFTES
governing Directors’ securities transactions in stringent compliance ?@%E’UTT%#E‘J&Eﬁ o RABIEMABESM
with the Model Code. Specific enquiries have been made to all the LERNENR  MESERERABZFEREE_S=
Directors and the Directors have confirmed that they had complied ZFETZ A=+ —HIFEETEESE -

with the Model Code during the year ended 3| December 2022.

The Company has also established its management system on trading RRBINEIEBIRGRAIESRE %\JF
securities of the Company by its employees, which is not less exacting &) |QEZ<§EE/\$%§;—E? J ERARAIRE B L

than the Model Code, for securities transactions by employees who BERMEITETHNESRS ° $’&T5fi§;‘fﬁ,§\
are likely to possess inside information of the Company. No incident ITERZSEZEH -

of non-compliance of such system by the employees was noted by the

Company.
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The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group and the Company for the year ended
31 December 2022.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other financial disclosures required by

the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The senior management has provided such explanation and information
to the Board as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an
informed assessment of the financial information and position of the

Group.

External Auditor and Auditor’s Remuneration

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its
reporting responsibilities for the Financial Statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” from pages 100 to |06 of this annual
report.

The external auditor of the Company will be invited to attend the
annual general meeting to answer questions about the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and content of the auditor’s report and the

auditor’s independence.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the fees paid/payable to the
Company's external auditor ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited for the

audit service was RMB .8 million.

Fees paid/payable to the Company's external auditor ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited for non-audit services provided to the Group for
the year ended 3| December 2022 was RMBO.2 million. Such non-audit
services mainly included professional service in relation to the review

of the 2022 interim report of the Company.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control

systems of the Group and reviewing their effectiveness.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems include
a well-established organisational structure with clearly defined lines
of responsibility and authority. Such systems are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve the Group'’s business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance

against material misstatement or loss.

The day-to-day departmental operations are entrusted to the individual
department which is accountable for its own conduct and performance
and is required to operate its own department’s business within the
scope of the delegated authority and to implement and strictly adhere
to the strategies and policies set by the Board from time to time.
Each department is also required to keep the senior management
informed of material developments of the department’s business and
implementation of the policies and strategies set by the Board on a

regular basis.

The Group has systems and procedures in place to identify, control and
report on major types of risks the Group encounters. Each department
is responsible for the assessment of individual type of risks arising
under its areas of responsibilities. Relevant risks identified are reported
to the Board for overseeing and monitoring of the respective types of
risks. The Group's risk management and internal control systems are
monitored and reviewed regularly (at least three times a year) by the

Board, which covers the full financial year.

During the year ended 3| December 2022, the Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group. The review has covered the financial, operational
and compliance and risk management aspects of the Group's risk
management and internal control systems implemented during the
year ended 3| December 2022. The review included discussions with
the management of the Company, its external and internal auditors.
In addition, the Board has also reviewed the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company's accounting,

internal audit and financial reporting functions.
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The Group has put in place a robust framework for the disclosure of
inside information in compliance with the SFO. The framework sets out
the procedures and internal controls for the handling and dissemination
of inside information in a timely manner so as to allow all the
stakeholders to apprehend the latest position of the Group. Under the
procedures, any Director or employee of the Company (especially the
senior management and unit heads, etc.) who is aware of any potential
inside information shall initiate the reporting procedures as soon as
practicable. The Board is responsible for accessing and determining
the nature of such information and for making relevant disclosure in
accordance with the SFO and the Listing Rules. The framework and
its effectiveness are subject to review on a regular basis according to

established procedures.

Internal Audit

The Group has in place an internal audit function. The primary role
of the internal audit function is to help the Board and the senior
management of the Group to protect the assets, reputation and
sustainability of the Group. The internal audit function provides
independent and objective review on the design and operational
effectiveness of the Group’s framework of internal control and risk
management systems, as well as the Group's governance practices.
The internal audit function of the Group is independent of the internal
control systems of the Group. The internal audit function also reviews
the Company’'s management's action plans in relation to audit findings
and verifies the adequacy and effectiveness of the mitigating controls

before formally closing the issues.

The internal audit function of the Group reports results and findings in
its audit work together with assessment of the overall risk management
and internal control framework to the Audit and Compliance

Committee as appropriate.
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Investor Relations and Shareholders Communications

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential to enhancing investor relations and their
understanding to the Group's business performance and strategies. The
Company also recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which will enable Shareholders

and investors to make informed investment decisions.

The general meetings of the Company provide a forum for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The chairman
of the Board, the chairman of each of the Remuneration Committee,
Audit and Compliance Committee and Nomination Committee, or, in
their absence, other members of the respective Board committees shall
attend and be available to answer questions at the general meetings of

the Company.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 24 May 2022,
separate resolution was proposed by the Chairman in respect of each
separate issue which was itemised on the notice convening the annual
general meeting. Procedures for conducting a poll were explained by the
chairman at the annual general meeting of the Company. The chairman
of the Board and the chairman of each of the Board committees were
present to answer questions from the Shareholders. Representatives
from external auditors of the Company also attended the annual
general meeting of the Company. All resolutions were voted by way
of poll. The Company appointed its Hong Kong branch share registrar
to act as scrutineers of the annual general meeting of the Company
and to ensure that votes cast at the meetings were properly counted
and recorded, and the Company has announced the poll results of the
annual general meeting of the Company on the respective websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company in accordance with the Articles
and the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed above, no other general meeting

of the Company was held during the year ended 3| December 2022.
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To promote effective communication with shareholders and investors,
the Company maintains a website at www.forgame.com, with a
dedicated investor relations section, and where information and
updates on the Group’s business developments and operations, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are

available for public access.

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication policy
since 3 October 2013 to ensure that Shareholders’ views and concerns
are appropriately addressed and will review it on a regular basis to
ensure its effectiveness. During the year, the Company has reviewed
the shareholders’ communication policy and confirmed that it has been

effectively implemented.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board of
the Company by addressing them to the principal place of business of
the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 6, I/F, Trust Centre, 912 Cheung
Sha Wan Road, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon Hong Kong by post for the

attention of the Board Secretarial Department of the Company.

Upon receipt of written enquiries from Shareholders, the Company

will make responses to the shareholders as soon as possible.

Dividends Policy

The Company'’s policy on payment of dividends (the “Dividend Policy™)
was adopted by the Company pursuant to the resolutions of the Board.
The Company will review the Dividend Policy, as appropriate, to
ensure the effectiveness of the Dividend Policy. The Dividend Policy is

set out as below:

Subject to the Cayman Islands Company Law and the Articles, the
Company may declare dividends in any currency through a general
meeting, but no dividend may be declared in excess of the amount
recommended by the Board. The Articles provide that dividends may
be declared and paid out of the profit, realized or unrealized, or from
any reserve set aside from profits which the Directors determine is no
longer needed. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution, dividends
may also be declared and paid out of a share premium account or any
other fund or account which can be authorized for this purpose in

accordance with the Cayman Islands Company Law.
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Except as provided under the terms of a particular issue, or with
respect to the rights attached to any Shares, (i) all dividends will be
declared and paid according to the amounts paid up on the Shares
in respect of which the dividend is paid, but no amount paid up on a
Share in advance of calls may for this purpose be treated as paid up on
the Share; and (ii) all dividends will be apportioned and paid pro rata
according to the amount paid up on the Shares during any portion or
portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid. The
Directors may deduct from any dividend or other monies payable to
any of the Shareholders or in respect of any Shares all sums of money
(if any) presently payable by such Shareholder to the Company on

account of calls or otherwise.

In addition, the declaration of dividends is subject to the discretion of
the Board, and the amounts of dividends actually declared and paid will

also depend on:

. our general business conditions;

. our financial results;

. our capital requirements;

. interests of the Shareholders; and

c any other factors which the Board may deem relevant.

The future dividend payments to the Shareholders will also depend
upon the availability of dividends received from our PRC subsidiaries.
PRC laws require that dividends be paid out of the net profit calculated
according to PRC accounting principles. PRC laws also require PRC
enterprises to set aside part of their net profit as statutory reserves
before they distribute the net proceeds. These statutory reserves are

not available for distribution as cash dividends.

The Board has the absolute discretion in whether to declare any
dividend for any year and, if it decides to declare a dividend, how much

dividend to declare.

TEER®RE

B TR AT IR (T AR B B BV BRI AR E
S+ ()P A BB SRR A BSR40 0 2
PR BB E R MR A - HEEBURATBE A D A
B FIRR LT E TR RN E B R
(i) P78 AR B RHZ R A B BT B B D T AT — BR
HZBRHMEN B - REHID BRI - &
=7 8RN TRIRIOS RAERMB DO EFKRE K
HpFIEEF - MR ZBCREES S EMRER
FERARMAXNOAESEE) -

O EIRRERHAEFEMNEER - ERTIR
MR B 2RISR FUATEEME

« RFIHEBERBAN

- RPIWPBERE:

- BAMERRR:

- BERIEZ R

- EESTRERA/BENEAMEMER -

H AP B mRRIR MR ETEBURRE MRS R
RPN P EME AR WIS - FEDEER
E - RBBBERETEEFH LR ERENFER
PR  REDERIRE - FEREEARDIKA

FRORFR R E AR N F R BB A E M
ZELERBTIAERRESBREMETOIR °

ExepEARNEMFREEREAMBRERGER
EERRE)KESBEFREBISE -

EFERERAT FEHE2022 89



Corporate Governance Report
TEERBRE

90

The Company will continue to re-evaluate the Dividend Policy in
light of the financial condition and the prevailing economic climate.
However, the determination to pay dividends will be made at the
discretion of the Board and will be based upon the Company’s
earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital requirements, statutory
fund reserve requirements and any other conditions that the Directors
deem relevant. The payment of dividends may also be limited by legal
restrictions and by financing agreements that the Company may enter
into in the future. There can be no assurance that dividends of any

amount will be declared or distributed in any year.

Shareholder Rights

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution is
proposed at Shareholders’ meetings on each substantial separate issue,
including the election of individual Director. Meanwhile, the procedures
for Shareholders to (i) convene an extraordinary general meeting, (ii)
direct their enquiries to the Board and (iii) put forward proposals at

Shareholders’ meetings are set out below.

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings
to the Company's Hong Kong branch share registrar, namely Tricor
Investor Services Limited at | 7/F, Far East Finance Centre, |6 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong. Shareholders who wish to put enquiries to the
Board can send their enquiries to the company secretary of the
Company in writing to the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong, who will ensure these enquiries to be properly directed
to the Board. Shareholders may at any time make a request for the
Company's information to the extent such information is publicly
available. Corporate communication of the Company will be provided
to Shareholders in plain language and in both English and Chinese
versions to facilitate Shareholders’ understanding. Shareholders have
the right to choose the language (either English or Chinese) or means
of receipt of the corporate communications (in hard copy or through

electronic means).
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General meetings shall be convened on the written requisition of any
two or more Shareholders deposited at the principal office of the
Company in Hong Kong, specifying the objects of the meeting and
signed by the requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held
as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid-up capital of the Company, which carries the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company. General meetings may also be
convened on the written requisition of any one Shareholder which
is a recognized clearing house (or its nominee(s)) deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong, specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist, provided that such
requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company, which carries
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company. The same
procedures also apply to any proposal to be put forward at the general
meetings. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be
held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Directors provided that any meeting so convened shall not be held
after the expiration of three months from the date of deposit of the
requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s)
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by

the Company.

All resolutions put forward at a general meeting will be taken by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules. In addition, the poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after the

Shareholders’ meeting in the manner as required by the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no change in
the constitutional documents of the Company. The latest version of
the Company’s Articles is available on the respective websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Company engages an external service provider to provide
secretarial services and appointed Sir KWOK Siu Man (“Sir Seaman
Kwok") as the company secretary of the Company with effect from 9
February 2022.

Sir Seaman Kwok’s main contact person at the Company is Mr. ZHU
Liang (Chief Financial Officer). All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the company secretary of the Company to ensure that
the Board procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulation, are

followed.

Sir Seaman Kwok is a fellow member of each of the Chartered
Governance Institute in England, The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute, The Institute of Financial Accountants in England,
the Institute of Public Accountants in Australia, The Association of
Hong Kong Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors and
the Hong Kong Society of Registered Financial Planners, as well as a
member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. For
the financial year ended 31 December 2022, Sir Seaman Kwok had
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules by taking no less than 15

hours of relevant professional training.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

CUI Yuzhi, aged 57, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director on 7 May 2020. With effect from 4 June 2021, Mr. Cui was re-
designated as a Non-executive Director, and was appointed as the chairman
of the Board and the authorised representative of the Company. He was
redesignated as an Executive Director and appointed as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company with effect from 25 August 202 1. Mr. Cui ceased to
act as the Chief Executive Officer with effect from |7 December 2021 but

remains as the Chairman of the Board and an Executive Director.

Mr. Cui is a seasoned independent investment advisor. Mr. Cui has more
than 20 years' experience in finance with deep expertise in international
capital market and enterprise operations. Mr. Cui held senior positions at
various organizations, including the executive president of Tendcare Medical
Group, the Portfolio Manager at Atlantis Investment Hong Kong, the general
manager of investment and operations at China Dili Group (formerly known
as Renhe Commercial Holdings Company Limited), whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1387.HK), the chief financial officer
of Zhong An Group Limited (formerly known as Zhong An Real Estate
Limited), whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 672.
HK), the chief financial officer of Excellence Group, the chief financial officer
of Treasury Holdings China Limited and the vice president of Shanghai
Forte Group. Since 2016, Mr. Cui has served as an independent non-
executive director, the chairman of the audit committee and member of the
nomination committee of Sino ICT Holdings Limited, the shares of which are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 365.HK). Mr. Cui also serves as a

director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Cui holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Applied Physics from the
University of Notre Dame in the United States (graduated with highest
honor), and MBA from the University of Chicago Booth School of Business
in the United States.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEERBE

ZHU Liang, aged 55, was appointed as the joint Chief Financial Officer
and Vice President of the Company on 7 May 2020. He became the Chief
Financial Officer after the other joint chief financial officer resigned on 30
June 2020. Mr. Zhu was appointed as an Executive Director with effect from
I3 October 2020.

From 1990 to 1993, Mr. Zhu served as a statistician at Wuhan Iron and Steel
(Group) Corporation in the PRC. From 1994 to 2012, Mr. Zhu assumed
various positions, such as an accountant, financial officer, director and legal
general manager at Synnex Technology International Corporation, a company
principally engaged in the distribution of information, communication,
consumer product, and semiconductor products, and the shares of which
are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange (stock code: 2347.TW). From
2012 to 2019, Mr. Zhu was the chief financial officer of Shanghai Evendata
Digital Technology Co., Ltd. in the PRC. From 2019 and prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Zhu served as the general legal advisor of Shenzhen Jiuli
Supply Chain Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhu currently also serves as a director of certain

subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhu graduated from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law in the

PRC in October 1990, where he obtained a bachelor’s degree in Accounting.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

HAN Jun, aged 51, was appointed as the chairman of the Board, an Executive
Director, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on || November
2019. Mr. Han resigned as the chairman of the Board and the Authorised
Representative on 27 April 2020 but remained as an Executive Director.
Mr. Han was re-designated from Chief Executive Officer to Vice President
on |3 October 2020. With effect from 24 May 2022, Mr. Han has been re-
designated from an Executive Director to a Non-executive Director, and

ceased to act as Vice President.

Mr. Han has over 18 years of experience in the internet industry. Before
2000, Mr. Han worked in China Potevio Co., Ltd, responsible for the
development of software for operation service of telecommunication main
network. He acted as the vice-president of TOM.COM LIMITED from
January 2000 to June 2004, where he was mainly responsible for the website
content of Tom.com and establishment of mobile value-added services
channel and financial performance target. He acted as the general manager
of Beijing Shanlian Hudong Network Technology Co., Ltd. from August 2004
to March 2018, where he was mainly responsible for the daily operation of
the business. He also held various positions in Prosten Technology Holdings
Limited (now known as China Brilliant Global Limited, stock code: 8026.
HK, a company principally engaged in the provision of solution integration
services and wireless mobile value-added services), including a non-executive
director from December 2013 to February 2015 and an executive director
from February 2015 to February 2018. He also acted as the chief operations
officer of KongZhong Corporation (a company listed on NASDAQ in the
United States in July 2004 and subsequently privatised in April 2017) from
September 2017 to October 2019, where he was responsible for the daily
operation of the business, data analysis and co-ordination and execution of

the financial indicator and business target.

Mr. Han graduated from the College of Computer Science of Beijing

University of Technology in the PRC, majoring in computer software.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEERBE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

WONG Chi Kin, aged 49, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director on 27 April 2020.

Mr. Wong has over 25 years of accounting, banking and finance experience
in international investment banks and commercial banks as well as various
listed companies in Hong Kong. Since March 2017, Mr. Wong has been a
non-executive director of Asiaray Media Group Limited, whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1993.HK). Besides, Mr. Wong was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Tsui Wah Holdings
Limited (“Tsui Wah"), whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1314.HK), on 5 November 2012 and was re-designated as a non-

executive director of Tsui Wah on | November 2016 till now.

From November 2021 to February 2022, Mr. Wong was an independent
non-executive director and a member of the independent investigation
committee of Mayer Holdings Limited, whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: | I'16. HK). From July 2018 to July 2019, Mr. Wong
was an independent non-executive director of Shenzhou Space Park Group
Limited (“Shenzhou Space”), mainly responsible for providing independent
advice to Shenzhou Space on listing resumption. The shares of Shenzhen
Space were listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 692.HK) The listing
of Shenzhou Space Shares has been cancelled with effect from 9:00 a.m. on
|0 December 2019 under Rule 6.01A of the Listing Rules. Mr. Wong was
also the chief financial officer of various listed companies in Hong Kong.
From October 2014 to October 2018, Mr. Wong was the chief financial
officer of Orient Victory Travel Group Company Limited, whose shares are
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 265.HK). From September 201 |
to October 2014, Mr. Wong was the chief financial officer of China Qinfa
Group Limited, whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
866.HK)

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Science (Honours) degree in Finance
from City University of Hong Kong in 1996, a master’s degree in Practicing
Accounting from Monash University, Australia in 2001, an executive master
of Business Administration degree from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in 2010. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of CPA Australia and an

associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

LU Xiaoma, aged 56, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive
Director on |13 October 2020. Mr. Lu has been a managing partner of East
Stone Capital Limited Partners, an investment management company focusing
on cross-border opportunities, since January 2018, where he is primarily
responsible for overall management and project sourcing. Further, Mr. Lu
has been the chief executive officer and director of East Stone Acquisition
Corporation since February 2020, where he is primarily responsible
for acquisition target sourcing and compliance. Mr. Lu has also been an
independent director of Yango Group Co., Ltd and BOC International
(China) Co,, Ltd since April 2017 and October 2018, respectively, where
his job duties mainly include risk management and compliance monitoring.
He has rich experience in investment, financing and strategic mergers and

acquisitions.

Mr. Lu joined State Street Bank & Trust Corporation since 1999, and was
appointed as its vice president and the chief representative in China from
May 2005 to August 2007 and August 2007 to August 2010, respectively,
where he was mainly responsible for participating in merger and acquisition
projects and managing the development of a new business line with annual
revenue over US$100 million, as well as setting up a branch in Beijing and
leading all market development activities in China, respectively. Mr. Lu was
employed as a dedicated non-executive director of China Construction Bank
Corporation, representing Central Huijin Investment Corporation Limited,
the domestic branch of China Investment Corporation from August 2010
to November 2012, where he was primarily responsible for overseeing risk
management strategy and focusing on credit risk and operational risk and
leading management structure and strategy in managing domestic banking
investment. Mr. Lu also served as the deputy general manager of The
Shenzhen Stock Exchange from November 2012 to May 2015, where he
was primarily responsible for managing information disclosure, regulating
more than [,000 listed companies and leading all fixed income product
operations and market establishment. From May 2015 to December 2016,
Mr. Lu was appointed as the group vice president of Wanda Financial Group
Limited and chief executive officer of Wanda Investment Company, where
he was mainly responsible for setting up overall business plan and strategy
for a new business and in charge of all corporate strategic acquisition and
financial investments. Subsequently from March 2017 to November 2017,
Mr. Lu served as the executive vice president of Kangde Investment Group
Limited, where he was primarily in charge of all investment and merger and

acquisition activities.

Mr. Lu graduated with a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in Thermal
Engineering from Tsinghua University in the PRC in 1988 and 1993,
respectively, and a master’s degree in business administration from Boston

College in the United States in 1999.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEEREEERE

JI Yong, aged 42, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director
on 6 September 2021. Mr. Ji obtained a bachelor’s degree in international
business administration and a master’s degree in international business
law from the University of Central Lancashire in UK in 2005 and 2006,
respectively. Mr. Ji worked in Kingfisher Group as an assistant in the
investment decision department and a marketing specialist from 2006 to
2007. From 2007 to 2009, Mr. Ji worked as an assistant to chief financial
officer in Excellence Group. From 2009 to 2014, Mr. Ji served as an
executive director and project vice president of LongTree Capital, where
he was mainly responsible for project investment and operations, and had
successfully facilitated the investment, execution, operation and exit of
various projects. Since 2014, Mr. Ji has been the vice president and general
manager in China of Impulse Dynamics, Motorika Ltd, where he holds full
responsibility for the establishment and expansion of the company's business

in China.

GENERAL

Save as disclosed, none of the Directors:

(i)  held any other positions in the Company or other members of the

Group as at the Latest Practicable Date;

(i) had any other relationship with any Directors, senior management or
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders of the Company as

at the Latest Practicable Date;

(i) held any directorship in any other public companies, the securities of
which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in

the three years prior to the Latest Practicable Date; and

(iv) had any interest in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO or is a director or an employee of a company which has an
interest or short position in the Shares and underlying shares of the

Company.

Save as disclosed above, to the best of the knowledge, information and
belief of the Directors after having made all reasonable enquiries, there
were no other matters with respect to the appointment of the Directors
that needs to be brought to the attention of shareholders of the Company
and there was no information relating to the Directors that was required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules as at the Latest

Practicable Date.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DENG Ge, aged 46, was appointed as the Vice President of the Company
on 9 December 2020. With effect from |7 December 2021, Mr. Deng
was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr. Deng
graduated from Hunan Radio and TV University in the PRC in 1999
majoring in Computer Science. He has more than 20 years of business
management and marketing experience in the electronics industry. Prior
to joining the Company, Mr. Deng has served as sales director of Taiwan
Zenitron Company Limited, general manager of Shenzhen Extreme Life
Network Technology Limited, deputy general manager of Shenzhen Haihong
Microelectronics Technology Limited and general manager of Shenzhen

Xingyun Data Technology Co., Ltd.*.

The biography of Mr. ZHU Liang has been disclosed under the paragraph

headed “Executive Directors”.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

B A RS
=
.-
y,

IIIII ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
FORGAME HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Forgame Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 107 to 21|, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 3|1 December 2022, and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 3| December 2022,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs") issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(the “IASB") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Trade receivables

Refer to Note 24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of trade receivables for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance of trade
receivables of RMB77,061,000 as at 3| December 2022 is material to the
consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group'’s impairment test

involves application of judgement and is based on estimates.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit limits and credit

periods to customers;

—  Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history with the

customers;
- Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;
- Assessing ageing of the debts;
—  Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;
- Checking subsequent settlements from the customers; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to credit risk in the

consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for trade receivables is

supported by the available evidence.

Property and equipment

Refer to Note |7 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of property and equipment for impairment.
This impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance of
property and equipment of RMB93,108,000 as at 31 December 2022 is
material to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group's
impairment test involves application of judgement and is based on

assumptions and estimates.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the identification of the related cash generating units;

Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use calculations;

—  Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow projections;

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions (including revenue

growth, profit margins, terminal growth rates and discount rates);

- Engaging our own valuer to assist us in assessing the reasonableness of

the discount rate; and

- Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group'’s impairment test for property and equipment

is supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company's annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion

thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report

in this regard.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs
issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud

or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the

Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or

the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the

effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made

by the directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

—  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the

group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

We communicate with Audit and Compliance Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we

identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit and Compliance Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate treats of safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with Audit and Compliance Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore

the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Hong Chun

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07374

Hong Kong, 24 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
EHEREREMEZEKRER

For the year ended 3| December 2022
BE-T-—f+-A=+—HBLTFE

2022 2021
—g-C —F-F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Hiat ARBTT ARETT
Continuing operations RS
Revenue WA 7 114,116 142,136
Cost of revenue (DN (108,343) (128,535)
Gross profit EF 5,773 13,601
Selling and marketing expenses SHE R 5 ERR X (3,474) (5,496)
Administrative expenses TER X (31,060) (18,642)
Research and development expenses e (31,586) (7,985)
Other income H AWz 8 4,239 2,409
Other gains — net B fth M)15 %58 9 5516 5,457
Finance cost IR IDIN 10 (395) (218)
Gain on disposal of investments at fair value H&IRAFET ABRMHIEE
through profit or loss oG 6,574 20,787
Share of profit/(loss) of associates FE{GE & A Rla F, (E518) 4,129 (5,263)
Reversal of financial assets measured at REMRK AT EN SR EER
amortised cost — net [B], % %8 /13 20,002 26,967
(Loss)/profit before income tax B?Fﬁ SR A (EBR) EF (20,282) 31,617
Income tax credit/(expense) Fris#iEe, (Fx) Il 175 (36)
(Loss)/profit from continuing operations 5B £ 5% (&18) = F (20,107) 31,58
Discontinued operation IS
Loss from discontinued operation RIEE TSR 12 - (14,056)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER) w7 13 (20,107) 17,525
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hi2mEWKE (B8 :
Items that will not be reclassified to profit ~ T E P IEEEBmAIEE -
or loss:
Changes in fair value of equity investments  EAFEFT AEM 2 EKER
at fair value through other comprehensive 1z 1% & ) A FE &
income (9,756) (12,142)
Deferred tax effect arising from changes in & A (BT AH Ab 2 H A
fair value of equity investments at fair ERREZ R ?TE ABFTEE
value through other comprehensive S IRERIERE
income 2,012 3,206
Currency translation differences INEITE =R 18,316 (4,225)
10,572 (13,161)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
EHERERHEMZERER

For the year ended 3| December 2022
BEBR-—F+-A=t—HLFE

2022 2021
—=E—_= ===
Notes RMB’000 RMB’'000
Bzt AR¥T T ARETT
Items that will be reclassified to profit or HE D EEEmhEE -
loss:
Changes in fair value of debt investments R AFEF AEMEE KA
at fair value through other comprehensive &% & M)A F(EE
income 16,086 -
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for ~ FEREMEE W (BE)
the year, net of tax HBRBLIE 26,658 (13,161)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEWRETE 6,551 4,364
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: AN A L EEIGER (EE),~
A
Owners of the Company PAYNEIEZ SN
— Continuing operations - FHEREER (20,107) 31,608
— Discontinued operation e - (14,056)
(20,107) 17,552
Non-controlling interests FEFERR M 2R
— Continuing operations - BB EER B (27)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE),EF (20,107) 17,525
Total comprehensive income for the year BT ATEEFARZEKE
attributable to: R
Owners of the Company RARER A 6,551 4391
Non-controlling interests FEFERR MR - (27)
6,551 4,364
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share SREARK#E(FE), EF
(RMB) (AR®T) 16
— Continuing and discontinued operations — — 3548 M 4R | 48 & %75 (0.14) 0.12
— Continuing operations - BEREER (0.14) 022
— Discontinued operation — RIERERTE - (0.10)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B B B # ik R &R

As at 3| December 2022
RZZ-__F+=ZA=+—H

2022 2021
=== —EF—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
liogza AR¥T T ARBFT
ASSETS 'E
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property and equipment EISE S 17 93,108 36,95
Intangible assets mILERE /8 18,523 19,019
Right-of-use assets FREEE /9 3,461 4,687
Investments in associates REFE R R HIRE 2] 62,909 55,075
Investments at fair value through other BATEAEM 2 E R R
comprehensive income ®"E 22 73,975 34,873
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE K E fth FE W R IE 26 15,291 405
Deferred tax assets RIEHIEEE 34 - 4,381
267,267 155,391
Current assets MENEE
Inventories FE 23 35,396 80,927
Trade receivables B 5 e R IA 24 77,061 58517
Loan receivables FEWE R 25 - -
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE R Efth FE W R IE 26 16,359 44,625
Financial assets at fair value through profit ~ #ZAF(EFFABEHNEHMEE
or loss 27 83,726 2,000
Investments at fair value through other BRAFEF AEM 2 E R
comprehensive income "E 22 18,565 -
Restricted cash XRHRS 28 1,020 1,669
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFED 28 224,623 370,266
456,750 558,004
Total assets BEEHRE 724,017 713,395
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Equity =
Share capital [N 35 93 93
Reserves Gk 37 643,114 636,563
Total equity ERBE 643,207 636,656
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
SO MR R K

As at 3| December 2022
RZT—_F+-A=+-H

2022 2021
=== —E-—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
i3 AR¥T T AREET T
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities ERBER
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIBEE 34 - 2,012
Lease liabilities HEEE 33 2,498 3,740
2,498 5,752
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B S RENRIE 29 11,399 9,688
Other payables and accruals H At T RIE K T E A 30 58,826 22,698
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit ZAFEFFABTHNE/RE &
or loss 27 848 -
Bank borrowings SRITER 3/ 3,850 4,000
Contract liabilities aHEE 32 2,148 28,882
Income tax liabilities s a’E - 4,558
Lease liabilities HEGE 33 1,241 116l
78,312 70,987
Total liabilities BB 80,810 76,739
Total equity and liabilities EaRkAEERE 724,017 713,395
Net current assets FRBEE 378,438 487,017
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAEHRABERS 645,705 642,408

The consolidated financial statements on pages 107 to 21| were approved FIO7E2  BEMEHMBHREAEFTEN _T=_=F
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 24 March 2023 and A THBEERRERELEAT TREES
signed on its behalf by:

Cui Yuzhi Zhu Liang
EFEH KR
Director Director
BF EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
EOREEEH X

For the year ended 3| December 2022
BE-T-—f+-A=+—HBLTFE

Attributable to Owners of the Company

KATRBARE
Shares
held for Debt
Restricted Share-based  Investments Non-
Share Share  Share Units Capital  Statutory Compensation  Revaluation ~ Translation Other  Accumulated Controlling
Capital -~ Premium ~ Scheme  Reserve  Reserves Reserve  Reserve Differences  Reserves Losses Total Interests Total
HERH
RiEt HRf
b bl RERN  RERY #ER

Ba RGEE  KH  EABE  REER  MelB EGER  FEEE  RpER  RMER 4% B 4
RMBOOD  RMBOOD  RMBOD  RMBODD  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOMD  RMBONO  RMBOO  RMBOM  RMBOO  RMBOD  RMBOW
ARETn ARETT ARMTT ARBTL ARETT ARMTR ARETn ARETn ARMTR ARETZ ARETT ARETR ARESR

At | January 2021

Total comprehensive (loss)/

income for the year

Issue of ordinary shares for
settlement of consideration
payable (note 35(2))

Cancellaion of consideration
shares for disposal of
subsidiaries (note 35(b))

Transfer of equity investments
at fair value through other
comprehensive income to

accumulated losses

WZE--%-f5-H

SRR
ERREMSE)

HELEHBAAN
RAREFESE)

BAVET A AEE
YarEaREEE

ERiER

0 20654 (80 000 0T 084 Sasy GRI) (4 4R (1) el
- - - - - - S 7 12 T - NS | (R
6 1923 - - - - - - - -9 -

(5 380%) - - - - - - B - - - -

_ _ - = - - = - (41,954) 41954 - B B

Deregstration ofasubsiclry ~ FE—FIEAR - - - - - - - - - - - 1,106 1,106
Share-based payments WRH BER#H - - - - - () - - - - ) - )
Changesinequiy for theyear ~~ FREREE) 0 (1888) - - = (1) S () N6 309 1079 24688
At 31 December 2021 and RIB=-%

| fanuary 2022 tZR=+-Bk

Z3-2E-f-R 93 Dl46603 (28900 30000 20730 208483 - 8754 (404949)  (1379,158) 636,65 - 83665
Tota comprehensive ncome/ ~ FAZENE /()

(loss)for the year ] - - - - - - 16,086 18316 (1744 (20,107) 8,551 - 8,551
Changesinequiy for theyear ~~ FREREE) - - - - - - 16,086 18316 (174 (0107 6,551 - 6,551
At 31 December 2022 RoB-ZET2R

=t-H 93 10146003 (28900 30000 20730 208483 16,086 62070 (412693) (1,399,265 643,207 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHRERER

For the year ended 3| December 2022
HE—ZE-=&t- A=+ |IF¥

2022 2021
g -
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTT ARBET T
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMEBHRERE
(Loss)/profit before income tax BRETISFL AT (B518), i T
— Continuing operations - BEEEER (20,282) 31,617
— Discontinued operation — BRI E X - (13,678)
Adjustments for: A TR IBEL AR -
Depreciation of property and equipment MERREITE 19,961 [,414
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENTE 1,226 1,087
Amortisation of intangible assets EmIVEERE 496 473
Allowance for inventories FERE 6,532 4319
Dividends received from investments at fair value WHUR A FERT ABZmEER
through profit or loss BHIARE (187) (1,139)
Interest income ESRE (3,977) (1,628)
Finance cost TSR 395 218
Gain on dilution of investment in an associate AR AR IREEE
Y zs (8,126) (8,995)
Fair value loss on investments at fair value BRAFEF ABZNRE
through profit or loss ZNTEEE 9,006 -
Gain on disposal of investments at fair value HERAFEFABRNR
through profit or loss ol e (6,574) (20,787)
Share of (profit)/loss of associates FEAE & A R Ca A1),/ 518 (4,129) 5263
Reversal of assets in connection with discontinued HAR | PR EESER B E
operation B[l - (8,831)
Reversal of financial assets measured at amortised RERKATTENEREE
cost — net B EFR (20,002) (26,967)
Fair value loss of share consideration payable JER R BRI A FEEE - 2,792
Loss on deregistration of a subsidiary EHE—ERBARMEE - 1,106
Loss on disposal of property and equipment HEWE RREREE - 16
Loss on disposal of investment in an associate HER—RBE R ANIRE
o) 5 259 -
Share-based payments AR B B EY 15 3R - @)
Exchange loss, net M 5 B 18 5 243 763
Operating loss before changes in working capital BEESEBAMNEEER (25,159) (32.958)
Change in inventories GFE&E) (15,436) (76,833)
Change in trade receivables E ZREWGRIEZH) (18,628) (53,719)
Change in prepayments and other receivables TR FRIE Ko EAth & W kI8
23 13,224 (14,473)
Change in trade payables B S MRS 1,711 (2,380)
Change in other payables and accruals Ho At T FRIE R FEET B
) 36,128 7,127
Change in contract liabilities SR EEE (26,734) 24,355
Change in loan receivables FEME SR B 2,278 16,831
Cash used in operations KRB S (32,616) (132,050)
Interest received 2 YF B 3,220 [,628
Income tax (paid)/refund (B, REFEH (2) 530
Net cash used in operating activities RETBHFIARS TR (29,398) (129,892)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

EHRERER

For the year ended 3| December 2022
BE-T-—f+-A=+—HBLTFE

2022 2021
—Eg- —_F_—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT
Cash flows from investing activities REFTBHFRBEESRE
Purchases of property and equipment BB W% KR (122) (36,183)
Proceeds from disposals of property and HE YR KRB G RIE
equipment - 5
Purchases of intangible assets BERTEE - (723)
Net cash outflow arising from acquisition of K EUEEK B A RRER S
subsidiaries SR - (6,000)
Net cash inflow arising from disposal of subsidiaries 2R B HEWB A RHIRE
MAFE - 6519
Proceeds from disposal of investments, net &R B PSR F 58 8,682 136,611
Payments for equity investments at fair value RAFEFG AR E RS
through other comprehensive income KRR IR & MR (4,306) (10,000)
Payments for debt investments at fair value through R AFEFF AE M2 E T
other comprehensive income MEEIE R (47,474) -
Dividends received from investments at fair value WER A FER AB R
through profit or loss RERR S 187 [,139
Payments for investments at fair value through BATEFABRARER
profit or loss B (92,128) (2,000)
Proceed from disposal of an associate HE — RS A T TSR IE 4,162 27,500
Withdrawal/(payments) for restricted cash R HIESIRE (R0 649 (904)
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing BRETE (A, MERe
activities RER (130,350) 115,964
Cash flows from financing activities RMETEHMERERE
Bank loans raised ERRITEX 4,000 4,000
Bank interest paid EARITAE (187) (43)
Repayment for bank loans RRRITER (4,150) -
Payments for lease liabilities HEARNK (1,162) (879)
Payments for lease interest HEM BRI (208) (175)
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing RMETB (R, FEES
activities EE (1,707) 2,903
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEEYRDFE (161,455) (11,025)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FORERBEFED 370,266 385516
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes R % 15,812 (4,225)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRASRREEEY 224,623 370,266
Analysis of cash and cash equivalents ReRBEESZB/YIN
Cash and cash equivalents B MESEEY 224,623 370,266

EFEREMRAT FEHE2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 3| December 2022
BEBR-—F+-A=t—HLFE

114

GENERAL INFORMATION

Forgame Holdings Limited (the “Company”’) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on 26 July 201 | as an exempted company with limited
liability. The address of its registered office is at the offices of Osiris
International Cayman Limited, Suite #4-210, Governors Square, 23
Lime Tree Bay Avenue, P.O. Box 32311, Grand Cayman KY |-1209,
Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place in Hong Kong is Unit 6,
[/F, Trust Centre, 912 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. The address of the headquarters is Room | 106, Block A
Phase I, Innovation Technology Plaza, Tianan Digital City, Chegongmiao,
Futian District, Shenzhen, China. The Company's shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the *

Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and
its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in
developing and publishing domestic and overseas webgames and mobile
games (the “Game Business”) and trading of electronic device and
semiconductor (the “Electronic Device and Semiconductor Business™)
in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC"). The details of principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 20 to the consolidated

financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs") that are
relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting year
beginning on | January 2022. IFRSs comprise International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS"); International Accounting Standards;
and Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised IFRSs did
not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies,
presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements and

amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new and revised IFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective. The Group has already commenced an
assessment of the impact of these new and revised IFRSs but is not yet
in a position to state whether these new and revised IFRSs would have

a material impact on its results of operations and financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs issued by International Accounting Standards
Board, accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of

investments which are carried at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with IFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and estimates. It
also requires the directors of the Company to exercise its judgements
in the process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving
critical judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in

note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these

consolidated financial statements are set out below.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements
of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31 December.
Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The Group has power over
an entity when the Group has existing rights that give it the current
ability to direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly

affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting rights
as well as potential voting rights held by other parties, to determine
whether it has control. A potential voting right is considered only if the

holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

BB ®RRME

For the year ended 3| December 2022
BE-Z-_—_F+-A=t—HILEE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Consolidation (Cont'd)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date the

control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of the
consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets of that
subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill relating to that subsidiary and

any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-controlling
interests are presented in the consolidated statement of financial
position and consolidated statement of changes in equity within equity.
Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of
profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between

the non-controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
shareholders even if this results in the non-controlling interests having

a deficit balance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Consolidation (Cont'd)

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions
(i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the

Company.

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The cost of acquisition is
measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity
instruments issued, liabilities incurred and contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in
which the costs are incurred and the services are received. Identifiable
assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the acquisition are measured at

their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Company’s share of
the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities
is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the Company’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of
acquisition is recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on

bargain purchase which is attributed to the Company.

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The
method of measuring impairment losses of goodwill is the same as that
of other assets as stated in the accounting policy below. Impairment
losses of goodwill are recognised in consolidated profit or loss and are
not subsequently reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating
units that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the acquisition

for the purpose of impairment testing.

BB ®RRME

For the year ended 3| December 2022
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Business combination and goodwill (Cont'd)

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially measured
at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate share of the net
fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the

acquisition date.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of an entity but is not control or joint control
over those policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights
that are currently exercisable or convertible, including potential voting
rights held by other entities, are considered when assessing whether
the Group has significant influence. In assessing whether a potential
voting right contributes to significant influence, the holder’s intention

and financial ability to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements by the equity method and is initially recognised at cost.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are
measured at their fair values at the acquisition date. The excess of the
cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The
goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is
tested for impairment together with the investment at the end of each
reporting period when there is objective evidence that the investment
is impaired. Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is

recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Associates (Cont'd)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or losses
is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of the post-
acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the consolidated
reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted
against the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share of those
profits only after its share of the profits equals the share of losses not

recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a loss of
significant influence represents the difference between (i) the fair value
of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that associate and (i) the Group's share of the net assets
of that associate plus any remaining goodwill relating to that associate
and any related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.
If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture, the Group continues to apply the equity method and does not

remeasure the retained interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of associates have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency

with the policies adopted by the Group.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

Foreign currency translation

()

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the Company’s presentation
currency and the functional currency of the principal operating
subsidiaries of the Group. The functional currency of the
Company is United States dollars (“US$"). The directors consider
that choosing RMB as the presentation currency best suits the

needs of the shareholders and investors.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the exchange rates
prevailing on the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rates at the
end of each reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this

translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair values in foreign
currencies are translated using the exchange rates at the dates

when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
other comprehensive income, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is recognised in

profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 3. FESTHBE#R)
Foreign currency translation (Cont'd) ISR (4F)
(c) Translation on consolidation (c) BHHRERE
The results and financial position of all the Group entities WA EEME RN ENRART

that have a functional currency different from the Company's
presentation currency are translated into the Company’s

presentation currency as follows:

(i)  Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of

that statement of financial position;

(i) Income and expenses are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the exchange rates on the transaction dates);

and

(i) All resulting exchange differences are recognised in the

exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign entities and of
borrowings are recognised in the exchange reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences are
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as part of the gain or

loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of
a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign

entity and translated at the closing rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss during the

period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated at rates sufficient
to write off their cost less their residual values over the estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful lives are as

follows:

Land and building 20 years
Furniture and office equipment 5 years
Servers and other equipment 35 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of estimated
useful lives or remaining terms

of the lease

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed

and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
The gain or loss on disposal of property and equipment is the

difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of

